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 1      MR. STANARD: Thank you.  Welcome
 2  everyone.  Special Board of Zoning Appeals public
 3  hearing, Village of Moreland Hills, June 18th
 4  2018.
 5      Theresa, would you call the roll,
 6  please?
 7      MS. DEAN: Mr. Bolek?
 8      MR. BOLEK: Here.
 9      MS. DEAN: Mr. Buczek?
10      MR. BUCZEK: Here.
11      MS. DEAN: Mrs. Cooper?
12      (No response.)
13      MS. DEAN: Mr. Janke?
14      MR. JANKE: Here.
15      MS. DEAN: Mayor Renda?
16      MAYOR RENDA: Here.
17      MS. DEAN: Mr. Stanard?
18      MR. STANARD: Here.
19      Thank you.
20      There is only one item on the agenda
21  tonight as this is a special Board of Zoning
22  Appeals public hearing.  There is at the
23  Bennett/Smallwood residence 90 Millcreek Lane an
24  application for an appeal of a violation notice,
25  an application for an area variance, an
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 1  application for use variance, and an application
 2  for non-conforming use.  A violation was issued
 3  by the building commissioner on April 5 and the
 4  applicant homeowners Katherine Bennett and Brian
 5  Smallwood are appealing this determination, and
 6  as such they have filled out the appropriate
 7  paperwork, the Board of Zoning Appeals
 8  application, and have submitted additional
 9  information with a use Variance Application
10  Supplemental Information Sheet and the
11  questionnaire as required by the Area Variance
12  Application.
13      I think we have a plan for this meeting
14  to proceed tonight according to the following
15  targets or bullets and I'm going to outline them
16  briefly and then we'll let the meeting commence.
17      The first item is I'm going to ask the
18  gentleman to my right to administer an oath such
19  that anyone who is interested in testifying would
20  be sworn in.  And then we'll introduce opening
21  statements by each party.  The applicant or
22  applicant's attorney will then present their
23  case, including any witnesses or documentary
24  evidence.  Legal counsel for the building
25  commissioner will be given the opportunity and
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 1  any party will be given the opportunity to
 2  cross-examine the applicants' witnesses and
 3  applicants' attorney will be given an opportunity
 4  for rebuttal, at which point the legal counsel
 5  for the building commissioner will present the
 6  Village's case, including any witnesses and any
 7  documentary evidence.  The legal counsel for the
 8  applicant and any interested party will be given
 9  an opportunity to cross-examine the Village's
10  witnesses and the Village's attorney will be
11  given an opportunity for rebuttal.
12      The next item would be closing
13  statements by each party, and at that point we
14  would declare that portion of the hearing closed
15  and ask the Planning Commission to discuss and
16  deliberate.  At the end of the day, the decision
17  will be relative to the notice of violation.  The
18  BZA will deliberate and decide whether to reverse
19  or affirm, wholly or in part, the decision as
20  presented by the building official.
21      So, if there are no questions or issues,
22  I'm going to ask that our legal counsel will
23  administer the oath.
24      MR. INCORVIA: Do you want me to
25  administer an oath to all who will be testifying?
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 1      MR. STANARD: I do, and I would like you
 2  to introduce yourself as well.
 3      Santo Incorvia, I'm the Village
 4  prosecutor.
 5      All who plan on giving testimony this
 6  evening, if you're able, please rise.
 7      (Sworn)
 8      MR. BOLES: Could the persons identify
 9  themselves?
10      MR. INCORVIA: They will when they're
11  called.  Thank you.
12      MR. STANARD: So the way that I've
13  outlined tonight's agenda, the applicant or
14  applicant's attorney will have the first
15  opportunity to present their case, so I would
16  invite anyone -- if said applicant would come
17  forward.  State and spell your name for the
18  recording of the meeting and then proceed to
19  describe your case.
20      MR. BOLES: Thank you.  I am Edgar
21  Boles, B-o-l-e-s, with the firm of Dinn, Hochman
22  & Potter, and I represent the homeowner
23  applicants Katherine Bennett and Brian Smallwood
24  who are here in the council room tonight.
25      As the chair, Mr. Stanard noted, my
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 1  clients received a notice of f.
 2      Violation April 5, 2018 and the notice
 3  of violation recited that an accessory building
 4  on their property, which is noted in Village
 5  documents as being a guest house, was deemed to
 6  be an accessory use, essentially a tool shed or a
 7  garage shed rather than the living dwelling that
 8  it has been, our evidence will show, for decades.
 9  Also, attached to that, stapled to that was an ad
10  from an Airbnb advertisement on the Internet
11  saying that this property is being rented over
12  Airbnb and that's a violation of the Village
13  code.  With respect to the dwelling house known
14  as the guest cottage, that structure has been on
15  the property, perhaps, longer than the residence,
16  primary residence.  It has certainly been there
17  for many, many decades and one of the
18  witnesses -- as a matter of fact, my first
19  witness I will call tonight is Dr. Robert C.
20  Muehrcke who resided at 90 Millcreek Lane from
21  1998 until 2002, and Dr. Muehrcke's testimony is
22  going to be that not only was that a residential
23  structure for human habitation when he moved in,
24  that in the period from approximately 1992 to
25  1997 Dr. Muehrcke undertook substantial
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 1  renovation and improvement of the property as it
 2  was a living dwelling under not only the
 3  supervision, but actually under the personal
 4  involvement of the building commissioner at the
 5  time, Greg Potts, and the mayor at the time, Skip
 6  Dodson, each of whom was at the property multiple
 7  times with multiple issues, questions, requests
 8  of Dr. Muehrcke, not that it be ceased as an
 9  unlawful structure, but that it be enhanced, Dr.
10  Muehrcke will testify.  That the plans that Dr.
11  Muehrcke had undertaken with a masonry contractor
12  at that time were not enough and that Dr.
13  Muehrcke should do more, both Mayor Dodson and
14  Building Commissioner Potts said to Dr. Muehrcke
15  as he will testify.
16      There was an issue as to a permit for
17  the retaining wall from the masonry contractor,
18  Paul Zagaria, and that issue was eventually
19  resolved after numerous Planning and Building
20  Commission meetings which are referenced in the
21  Village's own records.  There was also two cases
22  brought in Bedford Municipal Court, one against
23  Mr. Zagaria, the masonry contractor, one against
24  Dr. Muehrcke, my point being that the Village was
25  very well aware of the guest house in this period
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 1  of 1992 to 1997 and all of those matters of the
 2  retaining wall were resolved in the building
 3  permit being issued by building permit number, I
 4  believe, it's 768A, which was issued on March 3,
 5  1997 after the Planning and Zoning Commission had
 6  approved the retaining wall composition for the
 7  structure.  And as the drawings in the Village's
 8  own records show, a much grander patio was placed
 9  there and also that there was -- there were
10  numerous improvements, including installing of
11  the septic system and other improvements to the
12  guest house.
13      My point being is that it's quite clear
14  from the Village's own records and from
15  Dr. Muehrcke's testimony that this is a lawful
16  non-conforming use and has been so since at least
17  this period of time, early '90s, probably as far
18  back as 1940 as Dr. Muehrcke will testify.  So
19  therefore to -- and it's also worthy to note that
20  Dr. Muehrcke sold to Stuart Scheriber and
21  Mr. Scheriber sold to Jane Fox.  That entails, I
22  believe, if I remember correctly, three
23  point-of-sale inspections.  I believe the Village
24  had point-of-sale inspections back then and we
25  certainly know they do now.  In 2006 when Kate
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 1  Bennett and Brian Smallwood purchased it, there
 2  was a point-of-sale inspection, and nobody noted
 3  in the point-of-sale inspection illegal second
 4  dwelling on the back of the property, remove.
 5  That's worthy of note that the property has gone
 6  through three point-of-sale inspections with no
 7  mention that this is an accessory building which
 8  cannot be used for human habitation.  So we
 9  submit, therefore, consistent with the law, not
10  only the state law, but the Village's own code
11  that this is a lawful non-conforming use and
12  remains so today and not as cited on April 5th
13  2018.
14      Additionally, looking at the issue of
15  rental of the property, we now have the Village's
16  records which show that there, I believe, are
17  eight rental properties in the Village, including
18  two on Strawberry Lane within, as I say, two golf
19  shots of the subject property, 90 Millcreek Lane.
20  So there are rentals occurring not only within a
21  shot away from the subject property, but at many
22  other locations in the Village.  It is,
23  therefore, a lawful activity and has been for as
24  far back as I can read the code.  As a matter of
25  fact the code in ancient times talked about the

Page 11

 1  lawful size of a for rent sign in the window of a
 2  residence being offered for rent.  To this day,
 3  rentals are lawful in the Village, and my client,
 4  Katherine Bennett, did make application to the
 5  Village to register as a rental property, and
 6  when she used the phrase Airbnb, she was told,
 7  "You can't do that."
 8      So my clients did attempt to comply with
 9  the Village's registration code, but was
10  frustrated from doing that.  And I submit that
11  the rental use of the subject non-conforming
12  lawful guest house is contrary to the Village's
13  own code which makes rental of residential
14  dwellings legal as it has been since the
15  beginning of time in 1938 with the first code of
16  the Village of Moreland Hills.  So, therefore, to
17  say you can't use Airbnb does not comport with
18  the Village's own laws.
19      To say that rental or Airbnb is a more
20  intrusive or a more -- a stronger use than simply
21  using it with friends, family does not make
22  sense.  Looking at the property from 50 or 100
23  yards away, you cannot tell if the person who
24  drives up gets out and walks in the door is
25  Ms. Bennett's family or Mr. Smallwood's adult
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 1  children or Mr. Smallwood's parents who
 2  frequently visit and stay in that residential
 3  dwelling.  Certainly a person who parks their car
 4  and goes into the house.  Further, when my
 5  clients bought the property, it was represented
 6  both in a video from the realtor and orally by
 7  the realtor and in materials from the realtor,
 8  that not only is that guest house a significant
 9  feature of the property, for which my clients
10  paid, that it was then being used by Ms. Fox for
11  rental, and, indeed, there's a second mailbox on
12  the property, which you'll see photographs of,
13  which receive the mail for that property.  My
14  clients know the names of the renters, John Fox
15  and Cheryl Harrison because their mail continued
16  to come to the property.  Ms. Fox, the previous
17  owner did, indeed, rent it to people who lived
18  there as renters.  To say that my clients cannot
19  conduct lawful activity and renting is
20  contradictory to code, and say it's an accessory
21  structure limited to tools or tractors, renders
22  the property valueless, as a matter of fact, less
23  than valueless, which my clients most recently
24  were insuring for $115,000 with Westfield
25  Insurance.  You'll see documents to that effect.
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 1      Contemplating the effect of what the
 2  Village has done is to render a $115,000 dwelling
 3  nonusable and for which it was built to use and,
 4  therefore, it would need to be torn down.  You
 5  can't sell a property and say there's a
 6  residential structure that you can't use as a
 7  residential structure.  You can't park a car in
 8  there because it isn't built as a garage, so the
 9  damages would be not only the $115,000 that the
10  structure has been valued at, but maybe as much
11  as 50,000 more to take it down and regrade and
12  take out the septic system, which has been there
13  since Dr. Muehrcke put it in in 1994.  That
14  certainly makes no sense, is unreasonable, and I
15  submit any one of those findings would be
16  arbitrary and capricious by this body.  I have
17  exhibits which go to these points, including many
18  of which came from the Village's own records,
19  drawings, photographs, photographs of the
20  drawings and also photographs that my clients
21  have taken and also Dr. Muehrcke's testimony as
22  well as my client's.  Thank you.
23      MR. STANARD: You're welcome.  I kind of
24  skipped opening statements.  Would the --
25      Opening statement then to the building
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 1  commissioner and/or the building commissioner's
 2  attorney.
 3      MS. LANE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  My
 4  name is Aimee Lane.  I'm the Village Law
 5  Director, and I'm here tonight representing the
 6  Village of Moreland Hills.  And as has already
 7  been stated, this case involves an appeal of the
 8  building commissioner's violation notice finding
 9  that the structure on the property at 90
10  Millcreek is an accessory structure and the
11  property owners have been renting it on a regular
12  basis to the general public through Airbnb in
13  violation of Section 1151.13D of the Zoning code
14  that prohibits use of accessory building for
15  habitation, temporary or otherwise.  The Village
16  will be presenting the testimony of Building
17  Commissioner Paul Kowalczyk in support of the
18  violation notice, and the testimony that he will
19  provide will confirm that the property at issue
20  is located in the dwelling house district.  The
21  structure issue is an accessory building being
22  incidental and accessory to the principal
23  building on the property, which is a
24  single-family dwelling.
25      The Zoning Code Section 1151.13D
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 1  prohibits, again, the use of an accessory
 2  building for habitation, temporary or otherwise.
 3  Mr. Kowalczyk will also testify that the property
 4  owners have been renting the structure on Airbnb
 5  in violation of the Zoning code; that neighbors
 6  have complained to the Village about the
 7  different and new people on the property renting
 8  this structure on an ongoing basis.
 9      The Village has no record establishing
10  that this structure has been in continuous use
11  for habitation, let alone the short-term renting
12  to the general public and that these uses are, in
13  fact, legal non-conforming uses of that
14  structure.  The property owners purchased the
15  property in, I believe, August of 2016, over four
16  years after the Village adopted a rental
17  registration ordinance in Chapter 1363 of our
18  codified ordinances, but the Village has no
19  records of the property owners registering that
20  structure as a rental property under the
21  ordinance.  And even if the Village's records or
22  other evidence presented tonight could be
23  construed to find that the structure has been
24  used continuously for some form of habitation,
25  it, at most, is incidental, family, overnight
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 1  guest use, it surely was not opening it up to the
 2  general public for continued renting on a regular
 3  basis.  That was never part of the original use.
 4  The non-conforming use rights, your right is to
 5  the original use, the use of that property can
 6  continue indefinitely subject to the Village's
 7  code for non-conforming use for things like
 8  discontinuous or expansion, and I just would
 9  impress upon the board that there is no way that
10  the original use of that structure included
11  advertising to the general public for especially
12  vacation and holiday-type use.
13      The Village requests that the Board
14  would affirm the building commissioner's
15  determination that the structure can only be used
16  in compliance with Section 1151.13D.
17      I do want to add that even if the
18  accessory structure -- or the Board should find
19  that this is a second single-family dwelling on
20  the same lot, as Mr. Boles had said also would be
21  a non-conforming use.  We're not saying that
22  depriving the property owner of some rental
23  rights or the ability to use the property for
24  Airbnb, we are talking about non-conforming use
25  rights here.  Again, as I said previously, the
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 1  original use of that structure at best was guest
 2  house or cottage use, so incidental family guest
 3  use, not full advertising to the public for
 4  rental for vacation purposes.
 5      We do ask that if the Board finds that
 6  the structure has been used continually for some
 7  form of habitation, that it define the scope of
 8  that use for habitation, and, again, we don't
 9  think that would include renting the structure to
10  the public for vacation-type uses.
11      Just two final points.  I am aware that
12  there had been some documents that Mr. Boles
13  requested pursuant to a public records request
14  and I'm not sure that I've reviewed every
15  document that he is planning to present to you
16  this evening, but I feel that the records from
17  the Village from the 1990s use references such as
18  guest house or old cottage, but is calling
19  something -- using that term in and of itself
20  does not establish that since the 1940s after
21  zoning came into play that that structure had
22  been continually used on an ongoing basis for
23  habitation.
24      And, additionally, while I guess the
25  applicant speaks to extensive involvement by a
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 1  prior mayor and building commissioner about
 2  extensive walkways or patios, and I guess also
 3  point-of-sale inspections and things of that
 4  nature, I just wanted to mention that there's a
 5  legal principle called estoppel, and that
 6  principle is not applied to municipal
 7  corporations engaged in governmental functions,
 8  and governmental functions are duties performed
 9  for the common good of all citizens and include
10  the enforcement of zoning laws.  So a delay in
11  enforcing a regulation does not stop the
12  municipality from instituting a later enforcement
13  and this is set forth in well-established Ohio
14  case law.
15      I think that is all I want to say at
16  this time, so just to recap quickly, we are
17  requesting that the Board affirm the building
18  commissioner's violation notice as-is, or
19  alternatively if the Board is inclined to find
20  that there has been some non-conforming use for
21  this structure for habitation, that that scope be
22  defined based on the evidence you hear tonight.
23  Thank you.
24      MR. STANARD: Thank you.  At this point
25  we'll let the applicant or the applicant's

Page 19

 1  attorney present their case.
 2      MR. BOLES: Thank you.  The first
 3  witness I would ask to call is Robert C.
 4  Muehrcke.
 5      MR. MUEHRCKE: Do I stay here?
 6      MR. STANARD: Yes.
 7  EXAMINATION OF ROBERT MUEHRCKE, M.D.
 8      BY MR. BOLES: 
 9  Q.   Dr. Muehrcke, where do you currently
10    reside?
11  A.   38075 Fairmont Boulevard.
12  Q.   And, Dr. Muehrcke, you are a physician
13    or retired physician?
14  A.   Retired.
15  Q.   And what type of physician --
16  A.   Orthopedic surgery.
17  Q.   Where did you practice?
18  A.   UH, Bedford, Hillcrest, Marymount,
19    Solon.
20  Q.   And for long have you been retired?
21  A.   Fifteen years.
22  Q.   Dr. Muehrcke, were you an owner of
23    90 Millcreek Lane, Moreland Hills?
24  A.   Yes, I was.
25  Q.   Do you recall the periods of time during
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 1    which you were an owner of that property?
 2  A.   I believe it was bought in '86 or '87,
 3    and I think you said it was '97.  It was sometime
 4    in the '80s we bought it.  We bought it from a
 5    man named Ford, who happened to be the brother of
 6    Gerald Ford who was the president.
 7  Q.   And when did you sell it?
 8  A.   In 2001, I believe.  Maybe 2002.
 9  Q.   And to whom did you sell it?
10  A.   To a guy named -- I think it was
11    Scheriber or Schribeman.  He was an executive for
12    some grocery store chain.
13  Q.   And, Dr. Muehrcke, when you purchased
14    90 Millcreek Lane, was there a second structure
15    at the rear of the property?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   Would you describe it, please, for the
18    Board?
19  A.   Well, it was a cabin basically.  It had
20    running water, had no septic system, had a
21    fireplace, and it was used as a campaign
22    headquarters for Wendell Willkie's election in
23    the late '30s.  And the person who owned it, the
24    hunting lodge or cabin, whatever you want to call
25    it, built the primary house on the property
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 1    around 1941, 1942.
 2  Q.   And when you acquired the property, 90
 3    Millcreek, with the second structure on it, did
 4    you have any personal knowledge of people living
 5    or -- not living, but residing in that cabin?
 6  A.   I believe that her name was Shirley
 7    Ford, and I believe she said that the boys stayed
 8    in the cabin, because they had some older sons,
 9    teenagers, that stayed in the cabin, but I can't
10    testify that they stayed there all the time.
11  Q.   When you owned 90 Millcreek Lane, who
12    stayed in the cabin or stayed in the guest house?
13  A.   It was more like, what would you call
14    it -- it was an accessory room to the children's
15    living quarters.  The kids would use it a
16    chill-out room or a play center or something like
17    that.  They would have sleep-overs and stuff like
18    that.
19  Q.   Kids did have sleep-overs there?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   How many children do you have?
22  A.   Six.
23  Q.   Did any of your six children reside out
24    there?
25  A.   At various times, yes.
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 1  Q.   And who were those children who resided
 2    out there?
 3  A.   My oldest, Jennifer, stayed out there,
 4    and then when Andrea got older, she also moved
 5    out there.  That would be '90s -- in the '90s
 6    sometime.  And then when Jennifer graduated from
 7    college, she stayed there for a summer, and when
 8    she went back to graduate school, she stayed
 9    there after she finished graduate school for a
10    period of time.  They lived there off and on.  I
11    wouldn't say all of my children have lived in the
12    house.  You know, as they got older and left,
13    there was more room in the house for the kids so
14    there were more bedrooms.
15  Q.   Did anybody other than Jennifer and
16    Andrea, I believe was the other one?
17  A.   All the kids used it, but those were the
18    only two who --
19  Q.   Resided.
20  A.   -- resided in it.
21  Q.   Dr. Muehrcke, did there come a time when
22    you undertook substantial improvements to that
23    cottage?
24  A.   Oh, yes.
25  Q.   Can you recall -- you don't have to be
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 1    exact, but can you recall when you did that and
 2    what you did?
 3  A.   Well, when the kids -- I think it was --
 4    I believe my fourth daughter was born, it got a
 5    little crowded in the house, so that was like the
 6    early '90s, and at that time, you know, we
 7    embarked on improving the cabin, and one of the
 8    things was that you had to have a retaining wall
 9    on it and you had to have a septic system and it
10    just grew and grew because we wanted to have a
11    cooking area and have a showering area and stuff
12    like that, so it just became more and more
13    complicated and more and more hurdles to jump, so
14    to speak.
15  Q.   What do you recall that you put in of
16    improvements such as retaining wall, septic
17    system?
18  A.   Well, we had the retaining wall.
19  Q.   Did you put that in?
20  A.   Yes.  And then we had to put in a septic
21    system, then we had to, you know -- the kids
22    desired it so we had to have air-conditioning and
23    heating and hot water and stuff like that.
24    Before that it was just a tap line.
25  Q.   And was the Village of Moreland Hills
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 1    involved in any way in these improvements?
 2  A.   Oh, yes, they were.  Greg Potts and I
 3    were on a first-name basis because -- he's worked
 4    in the neighborhood, he would always stop by and
 5    stuff like that.  And I had some problems with
 6    the city because the contractor I hired did not
 7    get a permit and they -- I don't know what
 8    happened.  I think he had to pay something to the
 9    city, but I, ultimately, as the homeowner, I'm
10    the one got the brunt of that.  But I hired
11    somebody else -- his name was -- the other guy I
12    hired was Calvetta Brothers I believe it is.
13  Q.   Who was the masonry contractor who got
14    in trouble?
15  A.   Zagaria.
16  Q.   Paul?
17  A.   Paul Zagaria.
18  Q.   Was Mr. Potts at the site where the
19    cottage was?
20  A.   Yes, several times.  Not just once.
21  Q.   Was Mr. Potts aware of what you were
22    doing in terms of the improvements?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   Was he aware of the use of the
25    structure?
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 1  A.   I don't know if he was aware of it or
 2    not.  He had a sign that said it was for
 3    occupancy that they taped to the side of the
 4    building.
 5  Q.   Did Mr. Potts tape it to the side of the
 6    building?
 7  A.   I assume so.  I don't know.  I didn't
 8    put it there.
 9  Q.   The Village?
10  A.   Yes.  And I don't know the exact date he
11    did it, but it was sometime in the '90s.
12  Q.   Was the mayor out to the site?
13  A.   Yes, several times.
14  Q.   And Why was Mayor Dodson there?
15  A.   Because he wanted to tear the wall down
16    with a bulldozer.  That's what he said to the
17    newspapers.  And he was upset because he assumed
18    that I built it without a permit, and I assumed
19    that the builder, who I'm paying a lot of money
20    to, got the permit, but he never did.
21  Q.   To your knowledge or your experience,
22    did the matter get to Planning and Zoning
23    Commission meetings in Moreland Hills?
24  A.   Several times, yes.
25  Q.   Were you there personally?

Min-U-Script® Traver & Bishilany     216.451.1501 (6) Pages 22 - 25



Moreland Hills Special 
Board of Zoning Appeals Hearing June 18, 2018

Page 26

 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   Was the retaining wall work eventually
 3    approved by the Village?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   Did you eventually get a permit for that
 6    retaining wall?
 7  A.   I don't know.  I can't recall exactly.
 8    We had a permit for the structure and I think
 9    that they considered the walls -- there was
10    architectural drawings, walls, patio where the
11    septic system was placed and stuff like that,
12    that was approved.
13  Q.   Dr. Muehrcke, I'm going to show you a
14    group of photographs that the Board will have,
15    but they've been marked as Exhibit 3, and I'd
16    like to like you to look at those photographs, if
17    you would, please.
18        Do you recognize what's depicted in the
19    photographs?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   And what is it?
22  A.   It's the inside of the cabin.
23  Q.   I'm sorry?
24  A.   Of the cabin.  I call it a cabin.
25  Q.   Is that what it looked like when you did
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 1    the work on it?
 2  A.   Well, without going through every single
 3    one, I'll tell you yes.  Give me a second and
 4    I'll go through them all.
 5        I'd say it's representative of the
 6    cabin.
 7  Q.   If you will give me that back so I don't
 8    lose it.
 9  A.   Sure.  I just want to --
10  Q.   Dr. Muehrcke, did you recognize the
11    photograph that looked like the top of the septic
12    system?
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   Did you put that in?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   I'm going to show you what's been marked
17    as Exhibit 9, a topographical map drafted by a
18    firm company called by a firm called McStein.
19  A.   Yes, I remember them.  They made me hire
20    him.
21  Q.   Who is "they made me hire him"?
22  A.   The Village.  They wanted a
23    topographical survey, and he actually turned out
24    to be the son of one of my patients.
25  Q.   And you recognized the topographical
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 1    map?
 2  A.   Yes.  I don't recognize the name on it,
 3    but the guy they sent out was related.  I think
 4    that probably had to do with placement of the
 5    septic system or something like that.
 6  Q.   Dr. Muehrcke, I'm going to show you some
 7    of the documents within Exhibit 2, which are
 8    papers that were produced by the Village from
 9    their records in this proceeding, and under
10    packet A I'm going to show you some of the
11    documents in here and see if you can identify
12    them.  For example, this is a letter from A.J.
13    Lepri, L-e-p-r-i to Paul Daker, assistant
14    prosecutor dated February 27, 1997.
15  A.   I'll look at it.
16  Q.   Do you know who Mr. Lepri is?
17  A.   Yes.  He was my father-in-law.
18  Q.   He's a lawyer?
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   Was he representing you?
21  A.   I have to read it.  I don't recall this
22    off the top of my head.  I believe this was
23    representing me about the wall that was being
24    built.
25  Q.   I'm going to show you another document
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 1    from that photocopy and it says, "Permit to
 2    build, March 3, 1997."  Do you recognize that?
 3  A.   This may have been what I alluded to
 4    that was on the side of the house, something
 5    similar to this, only larger.
 6  Q.   Do you recognize the printing on that?
 7  A.   I didn't do that, no.  I don't know who
 8    printed this out.
 9  Q.   Can you see what's on the back of it,
10    which is the second page?  Read it out loud.
11  A.   "Work to commence within three months of
12    issuance of permit."
13  Q.   And do you see who signed it?
14  A.   Greg Potts.
15  Q.   Dr. Muehrcke, did anybody ever advise
16    you that that guest house was against the law in
17    Moreland Hills?
18  A.   No.
19  Q.   And do you recall approximately how much
20    money you spent renovating and improving it?
21  A.   That was 30 years ago.  I don't recall.
22  Q.   Do you know how Mr. Scheriber used the
23    guest house?
24  A.   I only saw him three or four times, and
25    he, like a lot of people, was remarried and he
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 1    had some teenage daughters who were going to live
 2    in the cabin.
 3  Q.   Did you come back?
 4  A.   Did I come back?  Not after I sold my
 5    house.
 6  Q.   You knew he had daughters living in
 7    there?
 8  A.   He said that's what he planned.  He and
 9    his new wife planned to get their older daughters
10    and they would stay in the cabin and the younger
11    children would stay in the house.
12        MR. BOLES: I have nothing further,
13    Dr. Muehrcke.  The other lawyer may have some
14    questions.
15        MR. STANARD: Does building officials'
16    attorney have any questions for the witness?
17        MS. LANE: I do have a couple questions.
18    EXAMINATION OF ROBERT C. MUEHRCKE, M.D.
19        BY MS. LANE: 
20  Q.   I'm curious, when you owned the
21    property, if you could tell me every structure
22    that existed on the parcel at the time.
23  A.   Every structure that existed.  It would
24    probably be the cabin and the house.
25  Q.   The cabin and the house.  And just for
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 1    orientation purposes and my understanding, the
 2    house is in front of the cabin.  The cabin is at
 3    the rear.
 4  A.   Well, the property is not laid out that
 5    way.  The house sits overlooking the valley where
 6    the railroad used to be, and along the side of
 7    the house is where the cabin is.  I can show you
 8    on your thing up there, but it was -- the
 9    property was pretty long, and there was, you
10    know, there was a valley behind it where the
11    trestles used to be, and I think it's Wiley Creek
12    or something that runs through it, and so I
13    wouldn't say it was behind the house, it was to
14    the side of the house.
15  Q.   Just because of the lot having some
16    topographical and maybe the shape of the lot,
17    too.
18  A.   Correct.
19  Q.   When you owned the property, was there a
20    driveway that would take you to the cabin?  How
21    would you get to the cabin from the main house?
22  A.   Well, there's a driveway to it, but what
23    we did is we built a walkway.  You know,
24    initially you would walk through a stone path,
25    and over time the path got bigger and the kids
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 1    got a playground and that was between the house
 2    and the cabin, so it got more developed I'd say.
 3    So our main route would be from the house to the
 4    cabin.  When the children were older and were
 5    driving and stayed there, you know, they were
 6    home from school or whatever, then the driveway
 7    was more in use.
 8  Q.   You had mentioned that in the 1930s the
 9    house was used as a headquarters for a
10    presidential candidate.
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   I'm just curious how you know that?  Did
13    you live in the Village prior to --
14  A.   No, there were posters in the cabin.
15    When we were having work done on the cabin, there
16    were posters on the walls, "Wendell Willkie for
17    President," and evidently through the grapevine I
18    heard that that's where the Cuyahoga County
19    campaign headquarters where they had parties or
20    fund-raisers or something.  I mean, I didn't make
21    that up.  There were posters there.
22  Q.   I'm not saying you did make it up, I
23    just was curious how you come to find that
24    information.
25        And then you indicated that sometime in
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 1    the early '40s, I think around '41, that the main
 2    house was built.
 3  A.   I think that house -- my understanding
 4    is that the cabin, because that's what I called
 5    it, was used as a hunting lodge in the '20s and
 6    '30s, and then in the '40s, even during the war,
 7    people started to populate and build homes and
 8    that's when they built the house, '41 or '42.
 9  Q.   I just wanted to ask you a couple
10    questions about Jennifer and Andrea using the
11    cabin.  You said they resided there.  I guess I'm
12    just curious what you mean by resided there.  At
13    that point in time when they resided there, was
14    there a septic system servicing the --
15  A.   Yes.  There was a bathroom and kitchen.
16  Q.   When you say they resided there during,
17    I guess, college --
18  A.   In the '90s.
19  Q.   -- grad school.
20  A.   This is before they went away to
21    college, they stayed there.  When they were 14,
22    16, 18 they stayed this there.
23  Q.   And then after your children left the
24    house, did you sell the house while -- I'm sorry,
25    let me back up.
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 1        Did you sell the house while you still
 2    had children living at home?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4  Q.   I have a photocopy of the permit that
 5    Mr. Boles showed you, and I just wanted you to
 6    read what -- what does the permit say it is for?
 7  A.   "Finished retaining wall rear yard, Dr.
 8    and Mrs. Muehrcke."
 9  Q.   Nothing on there says this is for a
10    guest house or there is a non-conforming use of
11    the guest house?
12  A.   No.  I would say at the time of the
13    issue it was probably the wall.
14  Q.   This is specific to the wall?
15  A.   Yeah, I think that they -- Zagaria was
16    working on the wall and they came and I think
17    they had the police remove them from the work
18    site and we ended up in court, and I think that
19    is pertaining to after those court proceedings
20    and I got the permit.
21  Q.   Do you recall when you owned the
22    property if you actually paid real estate taxes
23    on this cabin?
24  A.   No, I think we just paid one -- we only
25    had one tax bill.  I believe we had two gas bills
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 1    and two septic bills, but only one property tax
 2    bill.
 3  Q.   So you don't remember there being any
 4    separate valuation or tax for the cabin?
 5  A.   Thinking, I'd have to look at the deed
 6    or the bill of sale, but I think it was
 7    considered two -- I think it was sublot 28 or 29,
 8    something like that was on the deed, okay, but it
 9    was never treated as two separate pieces of
10    property for the tax people.  I don't know how
11    it's typed, how they divided up the land back
12    then.
13        MS. LANE: I think that's all I have.
14    Thank you.
15        MR. BOLES: I found some more papers
16    from Exhibit 2 I'd like Dr. Muehrcke to look at
17    before he leaves.
18        MR. STANARD: I think that's acceptable.
19    EXAMINATION OF ROBERT C. MUEHRCKE, M.D.
20        BY MR. BOLES: 
21  Q.   Dr. Muehrcke, here is some paperwork
22    that says it's from November 21, 1994 to Mayor
23    Dodson and members of the Planning and Zoning
24    from Greg Potts and there's some handwriting on
25    it.
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 1  A.   You're asking me to read?
 2  Q.   Well, do you recognize it?
 3  A.   No, I don't recognize it.
 4  Q.   Do you recognize the handwriting?
 5  A.   Again, I see Paul Zagaria.  I don't know
 6    if -- this may have been Mr. Potts' writing.  He
 7    has pretty neat writing and all, and this is a
 8    different issue.  This is a -- this was a stone
 9    wall by the front of the property, and, you know,
10    we're trying to spruce up the area and that's
11    what I believe this picture is about.
12        Then work at the rear of the property,
13    and I think this is when they got upset at
14    Mr. Zagaria, and that's when I -- it looks like
15    that's when I got involved with the Planning and
16    Zoning meeting.
17  Q.   I will show you --
18  A.   It says something about him talking to
19    Paul Zagaria and then it shows pictures of the
20    retaining wall.
21  Q.   I will show you more drawings and
22    they're photographs of your cabin?
23  A.   Yes, it looks like it.  It's hard to
24    tell.  It's kind of grainy and dark, but, yes.
25  Q.   Here's more drawings from the building

Page 37

 1    records about the wall.  Do you recognize those
 2    or have you ever seen those before?
 3  A.   I probably did.  It was how they wanted
 4    it built.  You know, solid stack rebar, stuff
 5    like that, just things that they wanted.  Ivy
 6    planting by owner.  Wall painting by owner, but,
 7    yeah, this is -- I don't know if this is what
 8    Zagaria gave them or if this is what I gave to
 9    Calvetta Brothers from Mr. Potts.
10  Q.   There is a letter dated April 8, 1996 to
11    you about 90 Millcreek from the Village of
12    Moreland Hills, Gregory R. Potts, Building
13    Commissioner, and I'm going to ask you to look at
14    that letter and ask if you recognize it or recall
15    it.
16  A.   I don't recall the letter, but I'm sure
17    if it's got my name and address on it it's from
18    him.  I must have seen it at one time.  You know,
19    we didn't have a problem.  I just saw a lot of
20    it.  And if he codified it in the letter, then
21    that's what he did.  And it says I have
22    violations and he wants them corrected.
23  Q.   Here's a letter from --
24  A.   I guess Mr. Zagaria had a trailer or
25    something on the property and that's one of the
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 1    violations.
 2  Q.   And here's a letter, October 30, 1996
 3    from Mr. Potts to you Dr. Muehrcke.
 4        Do you recall that?
 5  A.   This is just asking about the status of
 6    the retaining wall.  I think he's -- I would say
 7    he's codifying something because, you know, it
 8    was an issue and they wanted it taken care of.
 9  Q.   And here's another letter from the
10    Village's records dated December 20, 1996 from
11    Paul Zagaria to Mr. Potts, a copy of which said
12    it went to you.
13        Is that -- do you recall receiving that
14    or do you recall the subject of it in December of
15    1996?
16  A.   I don't know.  It sounds like they made
17    me get the survey, get an architect or an
18    engineer to design the wall, and then Zagaria
19    wanted back in on the job, and I don't know that
20    I wanted to use him after everything that
21    happened.  And also he -- you know, he wasn't
22    registered with the city at the time either,
23    which I guess is in violation of the code, too.
24  Q.   Was Mr. Zagaria replaced?
25  A.   Yes, by Zavarello Brothers.
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 1        MR. BOLES: I have nothing further.
 2        MR. STANARD: Thank you.
 3        MS. LANE: I have nothing else in
 4    addition.
 5        MR. STANARD: Thank you.  I would invite
 6    anybody from the Board that has a question for
 7    Dr. Muehrcke to present it.
 8        MR. BOLEK: I just have a couple
 9    questions.  You qualified one for me that I was
10    going to ask.  You were referencing a retaining
11    wall.  Were there any other permits?
12        MR. MUEHRCKE: Yes.  Like I said, I
13    don't have them.  I have an occupancy permit that
14    got taped to the building like in a baggie.
15        MR. BOLEK: And also just in general,
16    what -- is this specific to Dr. Muehrcke's point
17    or overall?
18        MR. STANARD: His testimony.
19        MR. BOLEK: Those were the only
20    questions.
21        MR. STANARD: I have actually one,
22    Doctor.
23        Just to be clear, when you bought the
24    property, the cottage cabin was already in
25    existence?
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 1        MR. MUEHRCKE: Yes.
 2        MR. STANARD: Did it have electricity?
 3        MR. MUEHRCKE: I don't think so, no.  It
 4    had water, and I guess they would call it gray
 5    water, I guess you can wash in it, but you can't
 6    have a toilet or dishwasher, something like that.
 7    You can't have girls -- they've got to have a
 8    toilet and dishwasher and sink.
 9        MR. STANARD: So there could have been a
10    well, a pump and --
11        MR. MUEHRCKE: I don't -- I think they
12    had water supplied to it.  I think there was a
13    tap into the water line.
14        MR. STANARD: And then during your
15    ownership of the property, and I believe I've
16    heard you say this, so I'm asking for
17    clarification, at some point you installed
18    cooking apparatus or a kitchen?
19        MR. MUEHRCKE: Yes.
20        MR. STANARD: And a septic system?
21        MR. MUEHRCKE: Yes.
22        MR. STANARD: And an air conditioner?
23        MR. MUEHRCKE: Well, it's a furnace with
24    an air conditioner.
25        MR. STANARD: And a hot water heater?
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 1        MR. MUEHRCKE: Yes.  And those were all
 2    inspected by Mr. Potts because you have to --
 3    he's got to inspect all the gas lines and stuff
 4    like that.
 5        MR. STANARD: Any other questions?
 6        MR. BOLES: May Dr. Muehrcke be excused?
 7        MR. STANARD: He may.
 8        MR. MUEHRCKE: May I make a comment?
 9        MR. STANARD: You may.
10        MR. MUEHRCKE: I was going to say,
11    Mr. Buczek was my -- that area, you were the
12    councilman for, and during the period of time,
13    the entire council came out to the house, to the
14    cabin a couple of times, and I remember you were
15    running at that time for councilman, so you may
16    have seen the cabin, too.
17        MR. BUCZEK: I don't recall.  I didn't
18    go on council until the late '80s.
19        MR. MUEHRCKE: That's when it would have
20    been.  I just thought it was -- curious that you
21    might also remember something of what went on.
22    We had -- Dodson made a big deal, he brought the
23    whole council out there a couple of times to look
24    at the place.  I was like, okay.  That was all.
25    Anybody else?
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 1        MR. STANARD: Thank you for your time.
 2        MR. BOLES: I'd like to ask Mr. Brian
 3    Smallwood to testify now.
 4    EXAMINATION OF BRIAN SMALLWOOD
 5        BY MR. BOLES: 
 6  Q.   Brian, would you state your name for the
 7    record, if you would, please?
 8  A.   Brian Smallwood, S-m-a-l-l-w-o-o-d.
 9  Q.   And I think we know where you live,
10    that's what we're talking about today.  I'd like
11    you to go back to the period of time when you
12    were looking at this property, you and Kate.  You
13    and Kate are not married, correct?
14  A.   Correct.
15  Q.   But you live together and you have an
16    agreement or understanding about the ownership of
17    this house?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   You're a co-owner of the house with her?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   Do you recall -- I want you to go back
22    to the time when you were looking at the house
23    and considering purchasing it and I would like
24    you to testify to what you were told, what you
25    saw and what you were led to believe.
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 1  A.   Prior to even looking at the property,
 2    there was a video.  On the video the real estate
 3    agent that was selling the property, the way that
 4    they presented it at the end of the video, it
 5    said in words, guest cottage, and I thought that
 6    was interesting, and so we went out and looked at
 7    the property, and one of the bonus features for
 8    me when I saw it, having older children and
 9    having parents that live further away and all
10    kinds of other potential situations, when we were
11    checking into the cottage, we were told by the
12    real estate agent, "This would make a nice
13    rental."  And when we went back there, it was set
14    up as an apartment.  It was set up as a studio,
15    and in there was a bed, a couch, everything -- I
16    took a look at some of these pictures, but it was
17    set up in the same fashion, in the same way to
18    host, but also for a rental and was told by the
19    real estate agent that the former owner had
20    rented it.  And after we saw that, that was
21    certainly a bonus.  We felt that -- and the real
22    estate agent also said that would be a great way
23    to offset your mortgage, so that was crystal
24    clear in my memory, I'm, like, "Okay, that sounds
25    great."  And then we had at that time -- well,
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 1    still, we have the mailbox, which belonged to the
 2    cottage.  On the way down to the cottage there's
 3    a driveway and there's a mailbox there, and we
 4    received mail for the cottage and still do
 5    occasionally, but the way it was presented to me,
 6    up to the date of the purchase, was that it had
 7    many uses, not just as a tool shed.
 8  Q.   Did you see in Exhibit 3 a photograph of
 9    the mailbox?
10  A.   Uh-huh.
11  Q.   Is that the mailbox you're referring to?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   And I believe we also have more of those
14    photos you took.  I think they're at the end of
15    the photos.  If you could look in Exhibit 3 at
16    the photos and also some --
17  A.   I've located them.
18  Q.   And then I'm giving you Exhibit 15,
19    which are a couple photos specifically of the
20    mailbox?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   And did you take those photos?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   When you bought the house, that mailbox
25    was there?

Page 45

 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   And that's not the mailbox down at the
 3    road?
 4  A.   No.
 5  Q.   Brian, how old are your children?
 6  A.   21, 18, and 16.
 7  Q.   And does the -- do they all drive a car?
 8    Do they have driver's licenses?
 9  A.   The oldest does.
10  Q.   Do they all have a driver's license?
11  A.   The oldest does.
12  Q.   Does the oldest have access to a car?
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   Is the oldest a boy?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   Does the oldest drive to your residence?
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   Does he stay in the guest house?
19  A.   He has.
20  Q.   Does he park the car and go into the
21    guest house?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   Do you have family who uses the guest
24    house?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   And tell us who that is.
 2  A.   Well, we had my sister from Kentucky who
 3    came up and stayed, we had -- and her children.
 4    We had my parents.  We also had some cousins who
 5    were getting married in the area who don't --
 6    they live on the coast in Massachusetts who
 7    stayed there.
 8  Q.   Each of these family members have stayed
 9    in the guest house?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   Do they each drive a car?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   If I were taking a video of your
14    property, how could I tell the difference between
15    a renter driving a car and walking into the guest
16    house and your cousins driving the car and
17    walking into the guest house?
18  A.   It would be hard to do.
19  Q.   How could I?
20  A.   Right.
21  Q.   I don't think you can.  And,
22    Mr. Smallwood, did you have or do you have your
23    property insured by Westfield?
24  A.   We do.
25  Q.   Did you provide me with some Westfield
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 1    Insurance documents?
 2  A.   We did.
 3  Q.   And I will show them to you.  They're
 4    Exhibit Number 4.  Could you look at those,
 5    please?
 6  A.   Uh-huh.
 7  Q.   Towards the back of that group of
 8    documents is a list of values, if you will, that
 9    Westfield was insuring the property for?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   Do you see a value that Westfield put on
12    the guest house?
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   What was the original value they had on
15    it?
16  A.   $115,200.
17  Q.   And --
18  A.   I think I'm reading the right thing.
19  Q.   And that's part of Exhibit 4?
20  A.   Right.  Yes.
21  Q.   And was the guest house for a period of
22    time insured by you for $115,200 at Westfield's
23    suggestion?
24  A.   Yes.
25  Q.   Did you reduce that insurance on the
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 1    guest house?
 2  A.   No.  Oh, we did.  I guess we did.
 3  Q.   You're conferring with --
 4  A.   With my financial advisor, Katherine.
 5    Yes.
 6  Q.   You did reduce it?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   That is also under oath?
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   If you'll set that aside, I can ask Kate
11    more about that.
12  A.   Sorry about that.
13  Q.   That's all right.
14        MR. INCORVIA: I'm not sure what these
15    are here.
16        MR. BOLES: Those are the court's copy
17    of the exhibits.
18        MR. INCORVIA: We didn't have an
19    opportunity to look at those.
20        MR. BOLES: There's a table of contents.
21        MR. INCORVIA: I didn't know what they
22    were.
23        MR. BOLES: I apologize they're not
24    stapled yet, but before we leave today I will
25    staple them and make sure they're in order.
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 1    There's a table of contents, it should be right
 2    underneath that.
 3        MR. INCORVIA: I'm glad you told us
 4    that.
 5        MR. BOLES: You will have those.
 6        MR. INCORVIA: The Board may want to
 7    look at these as you're going through them.
 8        MR. BOLES: Just so we don't get them
 9    mixed and matched, I will staple them before we
10    leave today.
11        MR. INCORVIA: Just so it's clear, each
12    one of these -- you've mentioned Exhibit 4.  If I
13    were to go to 4, that would be the insurance
14    document.
15        MR. BOLES: It is.
16        MR. INCORVIA: Perhaps as you're going
17    through these, now that we know that they're
18    here, if anyone wants to see the insurance
19    document.
20        MR. BOLES: Could you keep the tabs with
21    them?
22        MR. INCORVIA: Even better, why don't I
23    let you have control of these and hand each one
24    to the chairman or me and we can --
25        BY MR. BOLES: 
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 1  Q.   Brian, I'm going to show you what's been
 2    marked as Exhibit 13 and ask you to look at it,
 3    please.  Do you recognize Exhibit 13?
 4  A.   Yes.  This is a copy of mail going to a
 5    John Hawks.  This is our mailbox again, driveway
 6    down to the cabin with the mailbox, codified
 7    order of Moreland Hills.
 8        MR. INCORVIA: Give us a moment.  We're
 9    still looking at the last exhibit.
10        MR. BOLES: Sure.
11        That's the end of my questions for
12    Mr. Smallwood.
13        MR. STANARD: Counselor, do you have any
14    questions for Mr. Smallwood?
15        MR. BOLEK: Could you explain the
16    mailbox?
17  Q.   Brian, could you explain to the Board
18    the two mailboxes?  I think that may be
19    confusing.
20  A.   There's a mailbox at the entrance of the
21    property, which is the primary mailbox that we
22    use, and that has the number on it.  Then when
23    you go down and you take the road down to the
24    cabin, on the left is another mailbox, which is
25    not marked, however, could be easily used when
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 1    the person who lives in the primary residence
 2    gets the mail to place the mail in that belongs
 3    to whoever is occupying the cabin.
 4  Q.   And when you bought the house, the
 5    second mailbox was adjacent to the guest house?
 6  A.   It's at the beginning of the road that
 7    goes down to the cabin.
 8        MR. BOLES: Did that clarify?
 9        MR. INCORVIA: That's Exhibit 15, the
10    mailbox you're referring to?  I'm trying to
11    grasp.
12        MR. SMALLWOOD: Yes.
13        MR. INCORVIA: And 13 is the letter?
14        MR. BOLES: 13 is the letter addressed
15    to John Hawks.
16        MR. INCORVIA: So this mailbox, is this
17    the primary mailbox?
18        MR. SMALLWOOD: No, it's the other one.
19        MR. INCORVIA: It's not up the street?
20        MR. BOLES: No.  The road that goes down
21    to the second house, there's a second mailbox.
22        MR. STANARD: Questions?  Counselor?
23    EXAMINATION OF BRIAN SMALLWOOD
24        BY MS. LANE: 
25  Q.   Mr. Smallwood, I have a few questions.
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 1        Do you recall specifically when you
 2    purchased the property, the date and month?
 3  A.   I thought the date that was mentioned
 4    earlier was incorrect.  I think we got it in
 5    March was the official key transfer date and that
 6    would have been in '15.
 7        MS. BENNETT: I don't know if I'm
 8    allowed to say anything.  '16.
 9  A.   '16.  Yes, it was in '16.
10  Q.   So when you purchased the property, tell
11    me and I guess when you purchased it and if it's
12    changed to present day, describe all the
13    structures on the property, small, big, garages.
14  A.   There are three structures on the
15    property, and then I don't know if you would
16    include the playground as a structure.  If so,
17    then that would be four.  The playground is
18    rather large, so there's a primary -- there's the
19    house, there's the cabin, and then there is a
20    tool shed, which is separate, which I believe is
21    also in the Village of Moreland Hills records as
22    getting a permit for -- we didn't build it, but
23    one of the other owners prior to us built it.
24  Q.   And where is that located in relation to
25    the cabin and the main house?
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 1  A.   If you look at the map, right about
 2    where the T at the end of Bennett is, it's about
 3    where that's at, or under the 9, that's about
 4    where it is.
 5  Q.   And what do you use that structure for?
 6  A.   For tools.
 7  Q.   You said earlier that you were aware
 8    that a former owner rented the cabin, and I'm
 9    just curious who that was and if you spoke to
10    that person directly.
11  A.   We were told that the former owner had
12    an older woman -- I did not specifically talk to
13    the former owner, no.  Is that the question?
14  Q.   I wondered who -- yes, who -- if you
15    knew the prior owner --
16  A.   It was through the real estate agent who
17    had talked to the other real estate agent.
18  Q.   So that communication was conveyed to
19    you through the real estate agents?
20  A.   Uh-huh.
21  Q.   And I guess you were giving a little
22    more detail about the nature of the rental.  It
23    was an older woman that was renting the cottage,
24    cabin?
25  A.   Uh-uh.  That's what we were told.
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 1  Q.   When you were house hunting and you saw
 2    this video about guest cottage and apparently
 3    representations by a real estate agent, did the
 4    agent, do you know, happen to call the Village to
 5    check any zoning rules or otherwise, I mean, if
 6    you know?
 7  A.   I didn't ask the real estate agent if
 8    she checked the rules.
 9  Q.   Did you do anything to verify those
10    statements made by that real estate agent to
11    verify for yourself that, in fact, that guest
12    house was zoning compliant?  I'm just asking.
13  A.   We did when we applied to rent the
14    cottage, so, yes, but that was after.
15  Q.   I guess when was that?
16  A.   The beginning of last summer.
17  Q.   So you filed an application -- a rental
18    application.  We have a rental registration
19    program in the Village.  You're saying you
20    applied for the --
21  A.   I think we called and asked.  I don't
22    think it was an application.
23  Q.   I see.  So your question, I guess, was
24    more general in nature about whether there was a
25    rental application process or were you
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 1    specifically calling about --
 2  A.   What Mr. Boles stated in the beginning
 3    in the opening statement regarding we inquired
 4    about running an Airbnb and were told no.
 5  Q.   And then I'm just curious -- I guess the
 6    answer is probably no, but I guess other than
 7    Dr. Muehrcke, you have not talked with any other
 8    prior owners of the property about their use of
 9    it.
10  A.   Not directly, no.
11  Q.   And then are you aware whether you pay
12    real estate taxes on this cabin or just the main
13    dwelling?
14  A.   It's my understanding, much like
15    Dr. Muehrcke's explanation that the real estate
16    taxes are bundled.  It's not separated because
17    it's all on one parcel.  We pay taxes for seven
18    acres, close to it.
19  Q.   Can you tell me generally the dates that
20    you advertised this structure or the cabin on
21    Airbnb, like the first date to the latest date?
22  A.   I don't have a specific date, but...
23  Q.   As best as you recall.
24  A.   June, July.  July of '17 until we
25    received the notice.
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 1  Q.   Do you have some sort of contract with
 2    Airbnb, a signed contract?
 3  A.   I'm not aware.  I can't say yes or no.
 4  Q.   In that arrangement, do you have to pay
 5    them a fee for the use of their services?
 6  A.   It's my understanding that they take a
 7    fee out of every rental.
 8  Q.   And I'm just curious if you've ever gone
 9    on their website and looked up the terms and
10    conditions page on their website?
11  A.   I'm not sure.
12  Q.   You mentioned that you received mail at
13    the cabin mailbox.  How was this addressed?
14  A.   We didn't receive mail at the cabin
15    mailbox, we received mail in our primary
16    residence mailbox with other people's names on it
17    that were not prior owners of the primary
18    address.
19        And how was it addressed?  It was
20    addressed to -- I forget the names.  John -- one
21    here, John Hawks, and there was another woman,
22    Cheryl Harrison, something to that nature.
23        MS. LANE: I don't have anything else.
24        MR. STANARD: Thank you.  Any rebuttal
25    on questions?
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 1        MR. BOLES: No.
 2        MR. STANARD: Is there anyone on the
 3    Board that has a question?
 4        MR. BOLEK: Again, Ms. Lane, did a nice
 5    job of qualifying about if there were any other
 6    validations from you from what the realtor told
 7    you on the use of that structure.  My two
 8    questions are, one, what do you advertise guests
 9    do when they would come to your property for
10    Airbnb?  What are the amenities?  What are you
11    promoting they can do when they stay in that
12    cabin?
13        MR. SMALLWOOD: What can they do?
14        MR. BOLEK: Yes.
15        MR. SMALLWOOD: There aren't specific
16    activities that are stated on there.  I think it
17    was to enjoy life away from the city.  I think
18    that's how it was.
19        MR. BOLEK: So would they maybe mill
20    around through the wooded area, that sort of
21    thing?
22        MR. SMALLWOOD: I believe they were able
23    to if they wanted to on our property.
24        MR. BOLEK: I'm kind of curious on how
25    they would know where the property boundaries
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 1    would be and if they were wandering in the
 2    neighborhood -- a transient renter versus
 3    somebody that's there?  What is the -- what are
 4    you promoting that they do when they come stay at
 5    Airbnb on 90 Millcreek in Moreland Hills?
 6        MR. SMALLWOOD: Well, I think the main
 7    thing we were promoting was to stay in the
 8    cottage, but besides that, we have a map of the
 9    property in the cottage and that was it.
10        MR. BOLEK: Have you had anybody stay
11    there as a guest, not family?
12        MR. SMALLWOOD: Through Airbnb?
13        MR. BOLEK: Has somebody stayed?
14        MR. SMALLWOOD: Yes.
15        MR. BOLEK: But you're not aware of the
16    charges Airbnb has or payment structure?
17        MR. SMALLWOOD: Yeah, Kate mainly ran
18    it, but I'm aware of the charges, yes.
19        MR. BOLEK: And that was prior to the
20    violation notice?
21        MR. SMALLWOOD: Correct.
22        MR. BOLEK: You haven't since had
23    anybody stay?
24        MR. SMALLWOOD: We haven't had anyone
25    stay through Airbnb, no.
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 1        MR. BOLEK: That's all.
 2        MR. JANKE: I did have one question.  Do
 3    you know if on the county auditor's site or I
 4    guess the fiscal officer the cabin is recorded on
 5    your property record card?
 6        MR. SMALLWOOD: I'm not aware.
 7        MAYOR RENDA: I have one quick question.
 8    On your Airbnb ad, did you advertise it as a
 9    quiet place to be?  Do you remember?
10        MR. SMALLWOOD: I believe so.
11        MAYOR RENDA: That's interesting.
12        MR. STANARD: I have a few questions
13    also.  I think you've been asked the question and
14    answered that the mail that got into the mailbox
15    that was at the junction of the cottage driveway
16    and the main driveway was put there by the
17    resident, by the primary resident.
18        MR. SMALLWOOD: I said hypothetically,
19    that's what I would think they would do, yes.
20        MR. STANARD: To your knowledge, did the
21    United States Postal Service ever put any mail in
22    that mailbox?
23        MR. SMALLWOOD: Not to my knowledge that
24    wasn't the owner.
25        MR. STANARD: The next question is about
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 1    the insurance, two parts.  The first is that
 2    you've said you specifically outlined to
 3    Westfield there's a guest house on the property
 4    and is it named as such?  I haven't looked at
 5    Exhibit 4.  I believe it would be.
 6        MR. BOLES: It is.
 7        MR. STANARD: It's listed as a guest
 8    house and insured as a guest house?
 9        MR. BOLES: Separate price for the
10    cottage and for the primary residence.
11        MR. STANARD: And is that for the
12    property or is it liability insurance?
13        MR. BOLES: Property.
14        MR. STANARD: Is there a liability
15    insurance policy on this?
16        MR. BOLES: I can't say I looked, but
17    that's -- if it burns to the ground, that's the
18    amount of money they'll give you.
19        MR. STANARD: Those are my questions as
20    well.  Is there anyone else from the Board who
21    would like to ask further questions?  Any
22    rebuttal to either of you?
23        It's your floor again, sir.
24    EXAMINATION OF KATHERINE BENNETT
25        BY MR. BOLES: 
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 1  Q.   Ms. Bennett?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   Do you recall a time when you were
 4    looking for houses?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   And you saw this property offered for
 7    sale?
 8  A.   Uh-huh.
 9  Q.   I would like you to state in your own
10    words how this property was presented to you both
11    visually and verbally, which means use words.
12  A.   So our realtor -- we're going back two
13    years -- said, "I think you might like this.
14    You're outdoors people, it's a lot of land,"
15    there was the video we looked at.  It was a nice
16    house, there was a secondary place, you know, we
17    could have people, have people stay, or, again,
18    use it as a second source of income from our
19    jobs, and, yeah, she thought we might like it.
20  Q.   Were you aware of the feature of the
21    second dwelling on the property?
22  A.   Yeah.
23  Q.   What's been called the cabin or guest
24    house?
25  A.   Uh-huh.
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 1  Q.   How was it described to you?  What was
 2    the label put on it?
 3  A.   As much as I remember I believe it was a
 4    guest house.  That's what it was in the video as
 5    well.
 6  Q.   And was the -- was it prepared and
 7    presented with a bed in it for people to sleep in
 8    there?
 9  A.   Uh-huh.
10  Q.   Did it have a kitchen in it?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   Did it have a fireplace?
13  A.   Yeah.
14  Q.   Washer/dryer?
15  A.   Uh-huh.
16  Q.   Shower?
17  A.   Uh-huh.
18  Q.   Toilet?
19  A.   Uh-huh.
20  Q.   Septic system?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   How many septic systems do you have on
23    the property?
24  A.   I believe we have two.
25  Q.   One just for the guest cottage?
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   Do you have friends or family who come
 3    to stay in that guest cottage?
 4  A.   I do.
 5  Q.   Would you describe for the Board who
 6    comes and stays who is in the category of friends
 7    and family?
 8  A.   I have a brother who lives in New Jersey
 9    who comes in and he's stayed there a couple
10    times, and I have friends come and stay --
11    friends, family, but my brother comes in.
12  Q.   Now, when your brother comes in from New
13    Jersey and stays, do you caution him about the
14    boundaries and not going over boundaries over
15    into somebody else's property?
16  A.   No, we just focus on the path that goes
17    down to our creek.
18  Q.   Are you aware of the other properties in
19    the Village being rented?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   Do you know that there's two properties
22    on Strawberry Lane?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   Are the renters in Strawberry Lane being
25    cautioned about their renters staying inside of
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 1    the property line?
 2  A.   I'm not sure.
 3  Q.   Are the renters on Strawberry Lane told
 4    to be quiet?
 5  A.   I'm not sure.
 6  Q.   Are the renters on Strawberry Lane told
 7    to respect the rustic nature of the neighborhood?
 8  A.   I'm not sure.
 9  Q.   Is Strawberry Lane right near you?
10  A.   One street over.
11  Q.   Did you know there were properties being
12    rented on Strawberry Lane?
13  A.   I did know recently.
14  Q.   You do now?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   And did you see this mail which arrived
17    at your property addressed to other names?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   Could you describe for the Board what it
20    was that you have witnessed?
21  A.   Mail, again for John Hawks, Cheryl
22    Harrison.  She must have been a chef because it
23    was always cooking ware, mail that comes for her,
24    and I can't remember the other names, but, yeah,
25    to the point where I called the post office, and
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 1    said, "Listen, we've been here for a year, year
 2    and a half, two years, and we are still getting
 3    mail for people who don't live here anymore, so
 4    can you please -- these are the only two people
 5    that live here, can you please not drop off mail
 6    anymore."
 7  Q.   Which of the two of you -- maybe it was
 8    one, maybe it was both -- made the telephone call
 9    to the Village attempting to -- attempting to
10    register your property as a proper rental in the
11    Village?
12  A.   It was me.  It was not a telephone call,
13    it was an email.
14  Q.   Who did you email?
15  A.   To the Village of Moreland Hills.  I was
16    wondering -- to whom it may concern, because I
17    didn't know who the proper person was to email,
18    and I said I was wondering if there are any rules
19    or regulations about -- that we want to run this
20    Airbnb so is there anything I want to know about
21    because I'm always trying to follow the law.
22  Q.   And did you get a response?
23  A.   I did.
24  Q.   What was the response?
25  A.   What was the response?
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 1  Q.   Yes.
 2  A.   Pursuant to whichever code number it is,
 3    accessory structures are not allowed to be used
 4    for habitation, either temporary -- I don't
 5    remember the exact language, but something to
 6    that, either temporary or something, and so thus
 7    Airbnb is not allowed.
 8  Q.   Did you have occasion to read the
 9    Village code?
10  A.   I did after I got that.
11  Q.   Did you see anything in the Village code
12    that said Airbnb was prohibited?
13  A.   No.
14  Q.   Did you see anything in the Village code
15    that says you have to caution your renters about
16    the rustic nature of the topography?
17  A.   No.
18  Q.   Did you see anything in the Village code
19    about cautioning your renters to be quiet?
20  A.   I know there's a noise ordinance.
21  Q.   Did you see anything in the Village code
22    about telling your renters to respect the
23    property lines of the property that they are
24    renting?
25  A.   No.
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 1  Q.   Did you see anything in the Village code
 2    that made renting prohibited?
 3  A.   Made renting prohibited?
 4  Q.   Renting your residence.
 5  A.   No.  I didn't even know that there
 6    was rental -- at that time I did not know rentals
 7    were allowed in Moreland Hills.
 8  Q.   Since you have owned the property at 90
 9    Millcreek Lane, have you changed or altered the
10    guest house structure in any way?
11  A.   No.
12  Q.   It's exactly the same as when you moved
13    in?
14  A.   Yeah.
15  Q.   Yes or no?
16  A.   Yes, inside.  It's our furniture.
17  Q.   The outside is the same; is it not?
18  A.   Yeah.
19  Q.   And it's depicted in these photographs
20    that have since been identified, do you see
21    those?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   And there's a patio around it?
24  A.   Yeah.
25  Q.   And there is a retaining wall around
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 1    most of it?
 2  A.   Uh-huh.
 3  Q.   And a septic system?
 4  A.   Yep.
 5        MR. BOLES: I have nothing further for
 6    Ms. Bennett.
 7        MR. STANARD: Thank you.
 8        Counselor?
 9        MS. LANE: I do have a few questions.
10    EXAMINATION OF KATHERINE BENNETT
11        BY MS. LANE: 
12  Q.   Ms. Bennett, because you are a co-owner,
13    I'm going to ask a few things I already asked
14    Mr. Smallwood.
15  A.   Sure.
16  Q.   One question I had is if you've ever had
17    conversations with any prior owner of the
18    property about their ownership or use of the
19    property and the structures.
20  A.   The woman who we bought the house from.
21  Q.   You've spoken with her?
22  A.   Email.
23  Q.   And what was the nature of those
24    conversations?
25  A.   I asked her one time where were the
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 1    spigots, if there were spigots in the yard, and
 2    asked her where you turn on the water for the
 3    cottage, and I asked her -- I asked her if there
 4    had -- I'm trying to think.  This was a while
 5    ago.  Something about the flowers and the lawn
 6    and other yard stuff, plants and flowers and
 7    whatnot.
 8  Q.   So that would be -- that's all you can
 9    think of that you discussed with her about the
10    property, those things?  Did you have any
11    conversations with her about the cottage and how
12    she used the cottage during her time owning it?
13  A.   There was one time I asked her if anyone
14    had ever been in there, and she said no.  But
15    then it was interesting because in a prior email
16    that I have from her, she said that her kids
17    stayed in there, so two different things, and,
18    again, I have the email that shows that.  It was
19    out of two different sides of her mouth, I guess.
20  Q.   When you contacted the Village in an
21    email, you said to whom it may concern about any
22    rules or regulations about Airbnb, was that the
23    extent of the communication or did you include
24    your address?
25  A.   No, just my email address.
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 1  Q.   So when the Village received it, they
 2    wouldn't have been able to look up your address
 3    and look at the property configuration?
 4  A.   If they saw my name, they could look it
 5    up.  I didn't include my address.
 6  Q.   What is your email address?
 7  A.   TylerT397@aol.com.
 8  Q.   I'm sorry?
 9  A.   TylerT397@aol.com.
10  Q.   Tyler T?
11  A.   Uh-huh.
12  Q.   And your name is Kate Bennett?
13  A.   397.  It's the one I've been using since
14    8th grade.  The Katherine Bennett one I have is
15    for business.
16  Q.   I realize you sent this email that we
17    just spoke about, and I was going to ask about
18    any due diligence to confirm what the real estate
19    agent had conveyed to you about using the guest
20    house, and I guess that would be the steps you
21    had taken --
22  A.   I thought if they're advertising it as a
23    guest cottage and people have been apparently
24    staying there, that it was -- there was no
25    problem with it.  I didn't -- I assumed that,
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 1    okay, if they're advertising it as such, it
 2    wouldn't be first in my mind to check whether
 3    this is legal or not.
 4        MS. LANE: I don't have anything else.
 5        MR. STANARD: Thank you.
 6        MR. BOLES: If I may be permitted, I did
 7    not show either Mr. Smallwood or Ms. Bennett the
 8    two Board of Health permits for the septic system
 9    which I'd like to put in the record.  And I think
10    Exhibit 14 are the second mailbox photographs.  I
11    don't know if I actually asked him about it, but
12    I know he's talked about it.
13        MR. STANARD: Let's clarify.  Exhibit 14
14    I believe we did look at.  It's a picture of --
15        MR. BOLES: You did.  I don't know if
16    Mr. Smallwood specifically identified it.  I'll
17    hand it to him.
18        MR. SMALLWOOD: Yeah.
19        MR. BOLES: Those are the mailbox
20    photographs?
21        MR. SMALLWOOD: Yes.
22        MR. BOLES: Then may I show him
23    Exhibit 5 and 6?
24        MR. STANARD: You may.
25        MR. INCORVIA: You're faster than I am
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 1    able to get.  I'm not sure I have 14.  Look at
 2    them and distribute them to the Board.
 3        MR. BOLES: Mr. Smallwood, can you
 4    identify 5 and 6, please?
 5        MR. SMALLWOOD: Yeah, these are the
 6    permits for the Cuyahoga County Board of Health
 7    sewage treatment operation permits.
 8        MR. BOLES: That's all I wanted to touch
 9    on.
10        MR. INCORVIA: Do we have 5 and 6?
11        MR. STANARD: So Exhibit 5 is one permit
12    for one septic system and Exhibit 6 is the one
13    for the other.
14        MR. BOLES: Correct.  Obviously
15    different numbers.
16        MR. INCORVIA: Thank you.
17        MR. STANARD: Anything else, Mr. Boles?
18        MR. BOLES: No.
19        MR. STANARD: Does anyone on the Board
20    have any questions for the witness?
21        MR. BOLEK: I have a couple I can ask.
22    You mentioned there was mail for other people you
23    weren't aware of who they were.  I assume you
24    were sending those back return to sender.
25        MS. BENNETT: I said, "Does not live
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 1    here" and sent it back.
 2        MR. BOLEK: Was there a particular
 3    reason why one the exhibit is an unopened letter
 4    that hasn't been returned?
 5        MS. BENNETT: Just so I could show it.
 6        MR. BOLES: Strict instructions of
 7    counsel.  I said, "Save it to bring it so nobody
 8    said, 'Do you have any of those letters?'"
 9        They said, "No, I gave them all back to
10    the postmaster."  So I told her to save one.
11        MR. BOLEK: The statement you made when
12    you checked the ordinance and you didn't see
13    anything that restricted rental, I'm just
14    curious, 1151.13D that restricts living quarters,
15    was that overlooked?  Did you see that?
16        MS. BENNETT: I didn't look at any
17    ordinances prior to sending my email.  So I just
18    sent the email to find out from here, someone
19    here, are there any rules or regulations?  And
20    then the ordinance, I looked at it after it was
21    sent back to me, this is the one.  Aside from
22    that, then I just didn't -- the only other
23    ordinances I've ever looked at were ones that
24    pertain to noise in the city and -- I didn't --
25    again, that's the only ordinance related to, you
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 1    know, rentals or accessory structures that I saw.
 2        MAYOR RENDA: So after being told by
 3    someone in the Village that you were not allowed
 4    to rent your structure, did you then go ahead and
 5    list it on Airbnb?
 6        MS. BENNETT: Yeah, because I didn't
 7    think that it was an accessory structure.  It's
 8    not a tool shed, you know, I looked at it, and
 9    accessory structure seemed like --
10        MAYOR RENDA: So is it your primary
11    residence then, because it seems to me in
12    Moreland Hills code there's a primary residence
13    and then there are accessory structures.
14        MS. BENNETT: I just -- in my mind I
15    think an accessory structure is a tool shed, so I
16    think that with having the kitchen and oven and
17    stove and refrigerator and bathroom and
18    washer/dryer and everything does not mean an
19    accessory structure in my mind.
20        MAYOR RENDA: And so then to the best of
21    your knowledge do you pay income taxes on your
22    rental income?
23        MS. BENNETT: Income taxes.  Yeah.
24        MAYOR RENDA: That's all I have.
25        MR. STANARD: I have a few questions.
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 1        I think I'm in possession of an
 2    advertisement for the property, and it lists
 3    "Hosted by Kate."  Are you Kate, the host, or
 4    hostess in this case?
 5        MS. BENNETT: Yes.
 6        MR. STANARD: And is this your writing,
 7    or what I mean to say is, did you write this?
 8        MS. BENNETT: Uh-huh.
 9        MR. STANARD: "This is your retreat away
10    from the noise and hustle of urban life.  Commune
11    with the wild turkeys, deer, squirrels and mother
12    nature.  Lovely guest house..."
13        MS. BENNETT: Uh-huh.
14        MR. STANARD: Thank you.  And have you
15    ever used any other rental companies for this
16    property, DBRO?
17        MS. BENNETT: No.  Just Airbnb.
18        MR. STANARD: Thank you.
19        Any other questions for the witness?
20        MR. BOLES: I have no further witnesses.
21    I would like to offer my exhibits for the record
22    and make closing statement at the designated
23    point in the proceedings.
24        MR. INCORVIA: Do you have a particular
25    exhibit you want the Board to consider or all of
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 1    them?
 2        MR. BOLES: Well, I think they're all
 3    very relevant to the matter at issue here, and it
 4    sort of segues into my closing statement.  I will
 5    organize them in a fashion such that you won't
 6    have to sort through that 3 inches of paper
 7    there.  Some are those are going to be pulled
 8    away.
 9        MR. INCORVIA: That's what I wanted to
10    know.  I'm not sure we had someone offer
11    testimony on each exhibit.
12        MR. BOLES: You did not.  One of them is
13    Exhibit 2, which is from the Village's own
14    records and certified on the very first page as
15    being from the Village's own records.
16        MR. INCORVIA: Okay.
17        MS. LANE: Mr. Chairman, I'm sorry, just
18    for my own information, maybe I need to ask
19    Mr. Boles, how many exhibits are in that pile,
20    and how many were not spoken -- I hate to ask the
21    question, I guess.  It seems appropriate to me to
22    provide a list.
23        MR. BOLES: I do.  I have a table here,
24    and I've noted -- I did not make reference to the
25    Board of Zoning application, which I assume is
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 1    part of the record anyway.  That's number 1.  2,
 2    3, 4, 5 and 6 have all been identified; 7 and 8
 3    have been talked about, but they are simply the
 4    two municipal court proceedings.  I don't
 5    really -- I think those have been identified by
 6    Dr. Muehrcke.  I would also present 7, 8.  Nine
 7    was identified by Dr. Muehrcke, and the rest are
 8    sections of the -- and 14, excuse me, is the mail
 9    to John W. Hawks, and 15 is the second mailbox
10    photograph, and the rest, 10, 11, 12, 13, 16 are
11    code sections and I don't see a need to present
12    those.  So if I may recap, Exhibits, 1, 2, 3, 4,
13    5, 6, 7, 8, 9 are being offered, 14 and 15 are
14    being offered.  The rest are not being offered.
15    I'm looking at the list, and before I leave, I
16    will make sure they're in proper form for the
17    Board.
18        MS. LANE: Thank you.  That was very
19    helpful.  So at this point in time the Village
20    will call its sole witness in this case, Paul
21    Kowalczyk.
22    EXAMINATION OF PAUL KOWALCZYK
23        BY MS. LANE: 
24  Q.   Paul, would you state your full name and
25    spell your name last name?
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 1  A.   Paul Kowalczyk, K-o-w-a-l-c-z-y-k.
 2  Q.   And by whom are you employed?
 3  A.   Village of Moreland Hills.
 4  Q.   And in what capacity?
 5  A.   As the building commissioner.
 6  Q.   And how long have you been the building
 7    commissioner for the Village of Moreland Hills?
 8  A.   Since August of 2016.
 9  Q.   And do you have any state certifications
10    or licenses?
11  A.   I'm a registered architect for the State
12    of Ohio, and through the Ohio Board of Building
13    Standards I have a certification for building
14    official, building inspector, master plans
15    examiner, plumbing inspector, residential
16    building official and residential plumbing
17    inspector.
18  Q.   And if at all possible, can you give us
19    an overview of what the duties are as the
20    building commissioner?
21  A.   As the building commissioner for the
22    Village of Moreland Hills, my responsibilities
23    are to oversee the day-to-day operations of the
24    Building department as well as planning and
25    zoning aspects for the Village.
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 1  Q.   So the Village does not have a staff
 2    member that's a zoning -- or a planner, so to
 3    speak?
 4  A.   No.
 5  Q.   Or a zoning director.
 6  A.   No.
 7  Q.   So that falls under your --
 8  A.   Responsibilities.
 9  Q.   And your job responsibilities also
10    include code enforcement, correct?
11  A.   That's correct.
12  Q.   So that's both the Planning and Zoning
13    Code and the Building Code?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   And are you familiar with the property
16    at 90 Millcreek Lane?
17  A.   Yes, I am.
18  Q.   And do you know who the owner of the
19    property is or owners?
20  A.   Yes, Katherine Bennett and Brian
21    Smallwood.
22  Q.   And the property is zoned dwelling house
23    district, correct?
24  A.   Correct, single-family.
25  Q.   And to your knowledge that property has
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 1    a main or principal single-family dwelling and at
 2    least one accessory structure?
 3  A.   That's correct.
 4  Q.   I believe the testimony we heard this
 5    evening indicates there is a cabin and also a
 6    shed.
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   Prior to April of 2018, or I guess I
 9    could say the day you issued your violation
10    notice, which was April 5th, had you had any
11    communications with Mr. Smallwood or Ms. Bennett?
12  A.   No, I did not.
13  Q.   And prior to that time, had you ever
14    been at the property?
15  A.   No, I was not.
16  Q.   So can you tell us what led you to
17    inspect the property in April and describe the
18    steps that you took prior to issuing your
19    violation notice?
20  A.   Sure.  It's not uncommon on any normal
21    day in the building department, we receive
22    complaints -- complaints come in and it's my
23    responsibility to make sure that those complaints
24    are followed up on.  In this particular case, a
25    complaint came into the Village stating that at
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 1    90 Millcreek, there was an outbuilding that
 2    complainant believed was being rented through
 3    Airbnb and that, you know, it was bothering them
 4    because people would come and go on the weekends,
 5    and they wanted to know whether or not that was
 6    in compliance with the code.
 7        So I took that complaint and the first
 8    thing I did is I went into our Impact System,
 9    which is our computer zoning database system
10    first to put the address in and see maybe whether
11    or not there was a rental application on this
12    property.  When I went to the system, there was
13    nothing listed in the property file in the
14    computer database other than a permit that had
15    been issued for a shed a couple years back.
16    Seeing nothing in the computer file, the next
17    step is to typically go into the house file,
18    which is a paper file of documents that the
19    Village keeps over years, and so I opened up that
20    file and went through that file as well and found
21    nothing in that file pertaining to any type of
22    rental unit on that property.  At that point
23    there wasn't a whole lot of information in our
24    database or our property files relating to any
25    type of rental activity on that property.  Since
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 1    the complainant had stated that this was an
 2    Airbnb site, I went on the Airbnb site to look at
 3    that, and it does not give the specific address,
 4    but it gives you a map that shows you the rough
 5    location of where that house is located, and then
 6    it lists the host of that property, one being
 7    that it's Kate's place and the other host was
 8    Brian helps Kate, I think.  And so putting Brian
 9    and Kate together, that also matched Katherine
10    Bennett and Brian Smallwood on it.  The website
11    also contained photographs of the property, so
12    now I had a visual clue of what the structure
13    would look like, I had the address, and then I
14    did notice that there were multiple listings on
15    that Airbnb site that it appeared that many
16    people had rented that site over the period that
17    it had been offered.
18        The next thing was to verify that that,
19    in fact, was a structure on their property, so I
20    took the photographs from the website and went
21    out to the property.  This was the beginning of
22    early April.  At that time there were no leaves
23    on any of the trees, so from my city vehicle in
24    the right-of-way I was able to visually see that
25    the structure, the smaller structure that was on
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 1    the property at 90 Millcreek was the one that
 2    matched the photographs on the website.
 3        So at that point, you know, I had cause,
 4    yes, this was in fact a property -- structure on
 5    the property, I did have cause that there were
 6    multiple people who, you know, had a vivid
 7    description, actually did a description of what
 8    the property was, that they liked staying there,
 9    that they wanted to come back, and I had multiple
10    entires on the website that showed that, in fact,
11    this accessory structure had been rented.  So at
12    that time I had enough background that I needed
13    to go ahead and issue a violation notice to the
14    property owners stating that any type of
15    accessory structure on the property could not be
16    rented.
17  Q.   And you may have already said this, but
18    I just want to confirm that when you inspected or
19    viewed the property, including the smaller
20    structure, you were viewing that from a public
21    right-of-way.
22  A.   That's correct.
23  Q.   And you had no personal knowledge
24    regarding the use of this smaller structure prior
25    to these neighbor complaints?
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 1  A.   No.  As I said, any of the documentation
 2    that was in the Village files did not indicate
 3    any type of rental activity or use of that
 4    structure as another dwelling unit.
 5  Q.   And the Village does have a rental
 6    registration ordinance, correct?
 7  A.   That is correct.
 8  Q.   And do you know when that was adopted?
 9  A.   That was adopted in May of 2012.
10  Q.   And can you briefly describe what is
11    required by that ordinance?
12  A.   What's required by the ordinance, before
13    you go ahead and rent your property, which is
14    your primary residence, we do allow people to --
15    you know, if they want to move somewhere else,
16    rent their private residence, they contact the
17    Village, they fill out the rental application,
18    pay the rental application fee, then the property
19    maintenance inspector will go out to that
20    property, identify whether or not there are any
21    major code violations on the property that need
22    to be addressed prior to the transfer of sale.
23  Q.   And to your knowledge, the property
24    owners had never filed an application under
25    Chapter 1363.
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 1  A.   No.
 2  Q.   I know it's part of the BZA's packet,
 3    but I think it's appropriate to have you identify
 4    what I have marked as Village Exhibit A.
 5        Is this a copy of the violation notice
 6    that you issued on April 5th 2018?
 7  A.   Yes, it is.
 8        MS. LANE: This is for your files.
 9  Q.   Can you explain how you determined that
10    the structure at issue is an accessory structure
11    and not the main on the parcel?
12  A.   Basically since it's a single-family
13    zoning district, you're permitted to have one
14    main dwelling unit and that's typically the house
15    where you live.  And it's not uncommon in
16    Moreland Hills over time people have had guest
17    houses, people have pools that have pool houses,
18    cabana houses.  A smaller structure, not the
19    primary residence, would be considered an
20    accessory structure.  If you go on the Cuyahoga
21    County website, they also clearly define what the
22    primary resident structure is on that property
23    and they have a sketch and they have dimensions
24    and basically the footprint that is shown online
25    relates to the footprint of the house that I can
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 1    visually see on the property.  So the primary
 2    residence is the main structure on the property.
 3    Anything other than that that supports the house
 4    is considered an accessory structure.
 5  Q.   And it's noted in your violation notice,
 6    but just to clarify, you included a copy of the
 7    Airbnb advertisement with your violation notice,
 8    correct?
 9  A.   That is correct.
10  Q.   And did you have any conversations with
11    the property owners before you issued the
12    violation notice?
13  A.   No, I did not.
14  Q.   And did you receive -- subsequent to
15    issuing the violation notice, did you receive
16    correspondence from the owners?
17  A.   Yes, I did.
18  Q.   And so I have marked this as Village
19    Exhibit B.  Can you just identify that for the
20    record?
21  A.   Yes.
22        MR. BOLES: What letter is that?
23  A.   B.
24        MS. LANE: Village Exhibit B.
25  Q.   Would you identify what that document
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 1    is?
 2  A.   Basically what this document is, is a
 3    letter to my attention from both Brian Smallwood
 4    and Katherine Bennett stating that they had, in
 5    fact, received my violation notice and they would
 6    like to appeal the violation that was listed in
 7    that notification regarding the secondary
 8    structure on the property.
 9  Q.   And you've had no, subsequent to
10    receiving this letter, you have had no other
11    communications with the property owners; is that
12    correct?
13  A.   That is correct.
14  Q.   And I guess is there anything else that
15    you would like the Board to know about the
16    violation notice or the property that you can
17    think of?
18  A.   Just that, you know, I think looking
19    into this, you know, Airbnb as a host, there is a
20    policy that it is the property owner's
21    responsibility to verify prior to putting their
22    property up for Airbnb that, yes, in fact, you
23    better check with the local jurisdiction to make
24    sure you're not violating any codes or
25    regulations in doing this type of business.
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 1        MS. LANE: No further questions at this
 2    time, but I do reserve the right for rebuttal.
 3        MR. STANARD: Thank you.  Counselor?
 4    EXAMINATION OF PAUL KOWALCZYK
 5        BY MR. BOLES: 
 6  Q.   Yes.  Good evening.
 7  A.   Good evening.
 8  Q.   Edgar Boles representing Ms. Bennett and
 9    Mr. Smallwood.  I want to follow up with several
10    of the things that you said.  I'm going to pass
11    these papers down to you.  This is Exhibit 9,
12    which is the McStein topographical plan, which is
13    in the Village's records.  Ms. Bennett found it
14    there.
15        Did you find that in the Village's
16    records, sir?
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   You did?
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   What does it depict?
21  A.   It shows a smaller structure on that
22    permanent parcel located on the eastern half of
23    the site.
24  Q.   What's that smaller structure called?
25  A.   "Frame building."
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 1  Q.   Why would such a topographical map be in
 2    the Village's records if that was a tool shed?
 3  A.   I think we have multiple -- when people
 4    put outbuildings on their property, they
 5    typically have to submit a document showing where
 6    it's going to be placed on the property.
 7  Q.   Would that tool shed have a septic
 8    system?
 9  A.   Tool sheds typically don't have septic
10    systems.
11  Q.   Would it have a patio around it like it
12    is depicted in there?
13  A.   There are many outbuildings that have
14    patios around them.
15  Q.   Would it have a red front door like this
16    building does?
17  A.   That could be.
18  Q.   I'm going to show you papers now that
19    were also in the Village's records that were
20    marked as Exhibit 2 that Dr. Muehrcke identified.
21        Are you familiar with Greg Potts'
22    careful printing?  Are you familiar with the way
23    that Greg Potts used to print, God rest his soul?
24  A.   I'm aware that Greg Potts was an
25    architect as well.
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 1  Q.   And those drawings in there are pretty
 2    architectural; are they not?
 3  A.   That is correct.
 4  Q.   And what did Greg Potts call the
 5    structure?
 6  A.   One of these things says, "Old cottage,"
 7    and I can't make out that word.
 8  Q.   But Greg Potts' careful architect print
 9    calls it a "guest house"; does it not?
10  A.   Yes, he does.
11  Q.   And that's in the Village's records.
12  A.   That is correct.
13  Q.   And you looked at it.
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   And you read "guest house" in there, or
16    maybe it was buried too deep.  Did you read
17    "guest house" in there?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   Would it not be fair to assume that the
20    Village deemed it a guest house in 1992, '3, '4,
21    '5, '6, '7, isn't that what Mr. Greg Potts is
22    writing there?
23  A.   That's an existing guest house on the
24    property, correct.
25  Q.   And did the Village's files also include
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 1    Planning and Zoning meetings concerning that
 2    property and that guest house?
 3  A.   Yes, it did.
 4  Q.   And did it indicate that there was
 5    adjudications in Planning and Zoning back then
 6    concerning the guest house?
 7  A.   Not concerning the guest house.  That
 8    Planning and Zoning meeting was related to a
 9    retaining wall.
10  Q.   Next to the guest house.
11  A.   That was being built without a permit.
12  Q.   But would you not agree with me that the
13    records that you're holding in your hand that the
14    Village retained indicate that the property in
15    question was a guest house in 1992, '3, '4, '5,
16    '6 and '7?
17  A.   According to this document, that's what
18    they said it was at that time.
19  Q.   You don't want to answer my question
20    affirmatively, but didn't Greg Potts think it was
21    a guest house back in those years?
22  A.   I can only state that Greg Potts wrote
23    "guest house" on his document.
24  Q.   And that the code section that you're
25    citing Ms. Bennett and Mr. Smallwood for was
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 1    enacted in 2012, correct?
 2  A.   The rental ordinance was enacted in
 3    2012.
 4  Q.   Well, we're talking just about the house
 5    being a guest house at this moment, not the
 6    rental.  I'm talking about it being a guest
 7    house.
 8        Do the Village's records not indicate it
 9    was a guest house in the 1990s?
10  A.   Just this document indicates that that
11    structure was called a guest house.
12  Q.   Does the topographical map that's
13    Exhibit 9 indicate that it is a structure for
14    human habitation?
15  A.   No, it's called a framed building.
16  Q.   You express concern about Airbnb, I
17    believe, being in violation of Moreland Hills'
18    code; is that correct?  Airbnb violates Moreland
19    Hills' code?
20  A.   No.  The rental of an accessory
21    structure violates Moreland Hills' code.
22  Q.   What if the accessory structure is a
23    non-conforming guest house?
24  A.   I have no documentation that it was a
25    non-conforming guest house.
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 1  Q.   Does one need documentation that says
 2    it's a non-conforming guest house?
 3  A.   It should be in the file.
 4  Q.   I agree.  I think it is.  But does one
 5    need documentation that says this is a
 6    non-conforming guest house?  And my second
 7    question is going to be, where in the Moreland
 8    Hills code does it say you need that kind of
 9    documentation?
10  A.   We are here because there's a structure
11    being rented out --
12  Q.   Where in the Moreland Hills code is
13    there documentation -- is there a requirement
14    that you have documentation to say, "This is a
15    non-conforming use"?
16  A.   I'm not sure how to answer your
17    question.
18  Q.   How about honestly that it isn't there?
19  A.   I don't have an answer for you.
20  Q.   You said there should be documentation
21    that this is a non-conforming use.  You said
22    that.  Am I correct you said that?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   Where is the requirement to have
25    documentation of a non-conforming use?
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 1  A.   I'm not sure how to answer your
 2    question.
 3  Q.   You're familiar with the Moreland Hills
 4    code; are you not?
 5  A.   Yes, I am.
 6  Q.   Where in the code does it say you have
 7    to have documentation of a non-conforming use?
 8  A.   I would have to look at my code.
 9  Q.   Well, I've looked at it and it isn't
10    there.  Isn't it a fact that the reverse is
11    there, that if you have a non-conforming use, it
12    may continue to exist?
13  A.   Provided it does not go unattended for
14    over a year.
15  Q.   I'm familiar with that provision, and
16    there's been no evidence here tonight that it was
17    abandoned for over a year.
18  A.   There's been no evidence that it has
19    been continued as a use.
20  Q.   That, sir, the law says is the Village's
21    obligation, not Ms. Bennett and Mr. Smallwood.
22    So I believe the evidence here tonight has
23    established a non-conforming use.  Let's turn the
24    page and look at Airbnb.  Where in the Village's
25    code is Airbnb unlawful?
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 1  A.   I stated that they were renting the
 2    property.
 3  Q.   Without registering it?
 4  A.   That's correct.
 5  Q.   Did you hear Ms. Bennett's testimony
 6    tonight that she tried to do that?
 7  A.   Yes, I heard her testimony where she
 8    stated she asked the Village -- she had an
 9    accessory structure on the property, she wanted
10    to Airbnb rent it and was told she could not rent
11    that structure.
12  Q.   I submit there is nothing in the code
13    that says that she cannot rent the dwelling if
14    it's an Airbnb rental.
15  A.   And as you saw in the violation, it
16    points to you cannot take an accessory structure
17    and rent it.
18  Q.   Well, the violation as you wrote it up
19    said that this is a tool shed and you can't have
20    human beings living in it.
21  A.   No.  The violation said, "For Moreland
22    Hills Codified Ordinance Section 1151.13D, any
23    habitation, temporary or otherwise, is prohibited
24    in accessory structures."
25  Q.   What if it's a non-conforming use that
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 1    goes back to the '30s or the '40s or the '50s or
 2    the '60s or the '70s?
 3  A.   It has to be established as a
 4    non-conforming use.
 5  Q.   How do you do that?
 6  A.   We have to be able to document that.
 7  Q.   Do you?  Where in the code does it say
 8    you have to be able to document that?
 9  A.   We have to be able to show proof that
10    that use has existed without stop --
11  Q.   Where is that in the code, sir?
12  A.   Under the non-conforming use.
13  Q.   Where is that in the code?  You show me
14    where in the code it says you have to prove that
15    before you get non-conforming use?  Well, it's
16    not there.  We're just arguing.  It's not there.
17        Are you familiar with what's called the
18    principle of use or structure being
19    grandfathered?  Do you know what that means?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   What in your mind is does grandfathered
22    mean?
23  A.   Well --
24  Q.   If you don't know, you don't have to go
25    there.  It's a legal point.
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 1        Did you hear Dr. Muehrcke's testimony?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   Would you not agree that Dr. Muehrcke's
 4    testimony clearly established that this property
 5    is grandfathered as a residential dwelling?
 6  A.   I think his testimony showed that he
 7    used the structure sparingly to have his children
 8    stay in the structure.
 9  Q.   Do you not recall his testimony was that
10    Mayor Potts was personally there multiple
11    times -- Greg Potts was there and Mayor Dodson
12    was there many times?  The entire Village council
13    was taken out there.
14        MS. LANE: I'm going to make an
15    objection that Dr. Muehrcke testified and now
16    you're asking Mr. Kowalczyk to confirm what
17    Dr. Muehrcke did or did not testify to so I'm
18    not -- I'm confused.
19        MR. BOLES: You're not liking it?
20        You're not confused, I think you're not
21    liking it.
22        MR. INCORVIA: Go ahead and ask your
23    question, and if he can answer it, he will.  If
24    he can't, he can't.
25        BY MR. BOLES: 
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 1  Q.   Did you hear Dr. Muehrcke testify that
 2    the entire Village government was at that guest
 3    house?
 4  A.   I heard him say that, yes.
 5  Q.   Do you deny the truthfulness of that?
 6  A.   No, I guess I would take him for his
 7    word.
 8  Q.   It's his guest house.
 9  A.   He spoke under oath.
10        MR. BOLES: I have nothing further.
11        MR. STANARD: Do you have any rebuttal?
12        MS. LANE: I do have a couple questions
13    for Paul.
14    EXAMINATION OF PAUL KOWALCZYK
15        BY MS. LANE: 
16  Q.   Paul, when we were going over sort of
17    the timeline of what took place, you said you had
18    looked at the Village file and that there were no
19    documents speaking to the use of this smaller
20    structure, whether as a rental, whether as -- you
21    know, I guess I'm going to backtrack and start
22    over.
23        In your opinion and in your review of
24    the Village documents, there are no records of
25    the Village permitting or approving the use of
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 1    the structure for habitation; is that correct?
 2  A.   That's correct.
 3  Q.   And there are no records in the
 4    Village's file regarding the structure being used
 5    as a rental property; is that correct?
 6  A.   That is correct.
 7  Q.   And with respect to whether we
 8    determine -- the Village, I should say,
 9    determines whether or not something is a
10    pre-existing non-conforming use, would you agree
11    that the code does recognize that a use existing
12    either prior to zoning or lawfully existing prior
13    to a Zoning Code amendment is allowed to continue
14    to exist subject to things such as
15    discontinuance, change or substitution of use?
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   And that in our -- I'm the law director,
18    you're the building commissioner, we work
19    together, we often have to review records.  If
20    people are available to obtain, I guess, direct
21    statements, we can use that information to help
22    make that determination.
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   And I just want to confirm that you -- I
25    feel like you were asked a question whether or
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 1    not Airbnb violates the code, and I just want to
 2    clarify that the violation notice was not
 3    specific to Airbnb, it was specific to the rental
 4    of this smaller structure that in your opinion,
 5    as the building commissioner of the Village of
 6    Moreland Hills, is an accessory building.
 7  A.   That is correct.
 8  Q.   And when you think of and in your
 9    experience as a building commissioner and with
10    your state certifications of an accessory
11    building, that's not only a tool shed, an
12    accessory building can be other things other than
13    a tool shed; is that correct?
14  A.   That's correct.  We have pool houses, we
15    have cabanas, we have gazebos, we have tool
16    sheds, numerous things on the property are
17    considered accessory to the main use of the
18    property which is the dwelling structure.
19  Q.   And I know that you were shown some
20    documents by Mr. Boles where Greg Potts allegedly
21    or we assume wrote "old cottage" or "guest
22    house."
23        Do terms written on a piece of paper
24    establish a use?
25  A.   No.  You know, the terms on that paper
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 1    is what he assumed it was at that time.  You
 2    know, to establish a true use, you have a
 3    certificate of occupancy.
 4  Q.   So those documents and those notes
 5    written by Greg Potts didn't have any other
 6    notations about use for dwelling house or for
 7    dwelling use for family members or for overnight
 8    guests, it didn't define or qualify what was
 9    meant by putting those terms on those documents.
10  A.   No, they did not.
11        MS. LANE: That's all I have.
12        MR. STANARD: Anyone on the Board, any
13    questions for Mr. Kowalczyk?
14        MR. BOLEK: Yes.  Thanks for that
15    question because that clarified to a point my
16    question.  It seems to me that Mr. Boles put a
17    lot of weight on the words "old cottage" on this
18    document, and I appreciate the clarification of
19    what would constitute an actual definition or
20    record of an accessory use for specific purposes.
21    I read that a little bit further and it appears
22    your opinion on that to mean that sketch was
23    really related to the issue about the retaining
24    wall, not the structure, it was about the
25    retaining wall and does that not separate the two
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 1    in that the definition, whatever that building
 2    was is essentially irrelevant because the issue
 3    on that memo, that sketch was in the whole packet
 4    related to the wall; is that correct?
 5  A.   That's correct, everything in that was
 6    related to the construction of that wall.
 7  Q.   So Mr. Potts wasn't concerned about
 8    qualifying any use of that building, any prior
 9    use of that building in your opinion, it was just
10    he made a notation on the drawing that was
11    anchoring the main issue of that sketch was the
12    wall?
13  A.   Correct, locating that wall within the
14    property.
15        MR. STANARD: Any other questions?
16        Do you have any questions specific to
17    Mr. Kowalczyk's testimony?
18        MR. BOLES: I could question everything
19    he said.  I mean, his notice refers to Airbnb, it
20    was attached to it.  There is no requirement that
21    records of a non-conforming use be maintained or
22    exist or are necessary to preserve that, so your
23    testimony in that is simply wrong.
24        MR. INCORVIA: So you're making a
25    statement or --
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 1        MR. BOLES: I don't know.  I feel the
 2    need to --
 3        MR. INCORVIA: Well --
 4        MR. BOLES: -- I could object to this,
 5    but his testimony is not competent.
 6        MR. INCORVIA: Save it for closing.
 7        MR. STANARD: Is there anyone in the
 8    audience that would like to comment on the matter
 9    before the Board of Zoning Appeals this evening?
10        MR. INCORVIA: If you know do, we know
11    that Mr. Kowalczyk was sworn in, Ms. Bennett
12    Mr. Smallwood and Dr. Muehrcke.  If you want to
13    give your name and address and were you sworn in
14    at the beginning of the meeting?
15        MS. ALVES: I was, but I will re-swear.
16    Barrie Alves and I live at 110 Millcreek.
17    B-a-r-r-i-e A-l-v-e-s.  Mr. Stein and I are
18    actually the neighbors closest to the cottage in
19    question and most affected by it.  You see it is
20    on the rear portion of their property and it
21    faces away from the owners towards our
22    properties, and its entrance faces our
23    properties, and that very nice patio they talked
24    about, which by the way you can hear almost every
25    word from that patio on my patio.
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 1        The great irony here is that neither
 2    Mr. Stein and I nor any of the other neighbors
 3    here made a formal complaint to the Village.  We
 4    didn't know that there were any rules being
 5    broken.  We didn't realize it was in violation of
 6    any ordinances, but since this hearing was
 7    brought to our attention, I'm adding my voice to
 8    those of my neighbors in expressing our concerns
 9    about it.
10        I was going to tell you what a special
11    tight-knit Ozzy & Harriet kind of neighborhood we
12    are out of the '50s and '60s.  In fact, almost
13    everybody I know is jealous of our neighborhood.
14    We have parties, we make airport runs for each
15    other, take each other to doctor appointments,
16    bring in each other's mail, look after each
17    other's kids and pets.  And I think it's worthy
18    of note that it's not a very transient
19    neighborhood.  We have several neighbors who have
20    been on the street for over 50 years, and I have
21    lived there nearly 22 years, which by the way
22    means I've overlapped Dr. Muehrcke, Scheribers,
23    the Foxes, and now Kate and Brian, and I can tell
24    you in 22 years, I can't specifically say how
25    that guest house was used because I never heard a
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 1    peep from it.  It was, indeed, an incidental
 2    family guest-use house, nothing at all like the
 3    current use, which has been a fairly significant
 4    amount of traffic on weekends.
 5        At any rate, we all moved here for the
 6    security, ambiance and special charm that is
 7    Moreland Hills.  It is a Village where ordinances
 8    are in place for the good of the community, and
 9    some very wise people years ago had the foresight
10    to create some ordinances intended to keep our
11    Village one of the premier and most desirable
12    locations in greater Cleveland and keep its
13    private rural nature intact.  We don't have to
14    worry like residents in some other communities
15    about a neighbor running a beauty shop, an auto
16    repair or landscaping out of an ancillary
17    structure on their property.  Of course, no one
18    ever envisioned a business model like Airbnb.
19        I'm going to let my neighbors speak to
20    their individual concerns, and if I understand
21    correctly you should have received some emails
22    from some neighbors that could not be present
23    tonight.  Instead I will share with you the
24    wisdom of a former city planning director who I
25    spoke with last night.  She said, "This variance
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 1    is not about a single situation of some building
 2    encroaching on a property line.  Granting a
 3    variance on a residential street for a commercial
 4    use of an ancillary structure is a very slippery
 5    slope that you don't want to go down.  It's
 6    opening a real Pandora's box."
 7        But I want to reiterate, I did not, nor
 8    did anybody here tonight, file a complaint about
 9    this Airbnb, but since you asked for our input,
10    our blessing to change several long-standing
11    variances for our newest neighborhood residents,
12    I'm sorry, I cannot in good conscience give you
13    my blessing, and thank you for allowing me to
14    give you my input.
15        MR. INCORVIA: You mentioned emails that
16    may have been be sent.  The Board will only
17    consider the evidence that's presented here
18    tonight.  Anyone wanting to give testimony would
19    have to be here tonight to give testimony.
20        MR. STANARD: Thank you for your
21    comments.  By doing so, I am now obligated to ask
22    either of the attorneys if they have any
23    questions for you, and I would ask that it would
24    just be questions.
25        MR. BOLES: I have no questions.
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 1        MS. LANE: I have nothing.
 2        MR. STANARD: Thank you.  Anyone else
 3    that would like to make a comment?
 4        MR. STEIN: My name is Greg Stein.  I'm
 5    a resident of 100 Millcreek.
 6        MR. STANARD: Just confirming you're
 7    under oath also?
 8        MR. STEIN: Correct.
 9        Anything else you need?
10        MR. STANARD: No.
11        MR. STEIN: Just a couple quick thoughts
12    as far as my own perspective on this.  So I saw
13    the site ordinance and so that focused on the
14    living quarters, and so I think about the overall
15    structure as far as making exception to that, and
16    there's a few things that come to mind.  One of
17    them is safety.  There's I don't think any
18    argument that making an exception of this
19    ordinance makes the neighborhood safer.  I don't
20    know how you could make that claim.  You can
21    certainly make the claim that it would make it
22    less safe because you're bringing in people that
23    have no connection to Moreland Hills, there's not
24    a person in the town of Moreland Hills who knows
25    these people, and Airbnb doesn't make any
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 1    claim -- in fact, they disclaim that people we
 2    are letting you connect with, they are safe or
 3    they use some level of checks, but they say we
 4    are not guaranteeing the safety of people who are
 5    brought there.  And, you know, being somebody who
 6    is right next door, I have little kids, so that's
 7    why I bring up safety as my first thing as far as
 8    a key point because this is a neighborhood where
 9    I know everybody, I know people walking around,
10    and so the privacy of my children, the protection
11    of my family is important.  So bringing in people
12    that nobody has any understanding of, they don't
13    know their history, they don't know anything
14    about them, you know, it is troubling, and it's
15    troubling from you don't know their conduct, you
16    don't know how they drive, you're adding more
17    people to the street than otherwise would be
18    there, so it's a concern.
19        Another thing that's concerning is, you
20    know, the economic effect on the people who are
21    the adjacent properties, because if there was a
22    variance granted, and somebody who is an adjacent
23    property goes to sell their house, nobody looking
24    to purchase a house is going to think it's an
25    attractive quality being next to an Airbnb.  And
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 1    when you're looking at houses, it often doesn't
 2    take a lot to say, "No, I don't want that one,"
 3    because you can pull up 50 searches.  I know
 4    people who have looked at 100 different houses,
 5    so it's any little thing.  So even the perception
 6    of what it might be like to live there, because
 7    they're not going to know, they're going to say,
 8    "I would rather not be next to an Airbnb house."
 9    So that means the people who are adjacent are
10    assuming that economic risk for granting a
11    variance.  There's also -- we've talked a little
12    bit about the potential for trespass, and it
13    would be highly easy to walk on my property
14    because it's got the creek.  I'm not -- how you
15    would be able to keep people from doing that, I
16    don't think it would be possible to.
17        So I guess the last thing is there is a
18    restriction in the code on living quarters.  It
19    is not specific to Airbnb, it's just general,
20    general living quarters.  And so if the town of
21    Moreland Hills was going to make an exception to
22    that, it seems like to me this would be sort of
23    the worst case to use as an exception because,
24    again, it's not people you know, not people who
25    have relationships to other members of the
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 1    community, it's people coming to the community
 2    who know none of the people there and nobody has
 3    any understanding as far as their personalities,
 4    whether it's a safety risk or anything related to
 5    that.  If the Board was looking to make an
 6    exception, this doesn't seem like particularly a
 7    good example to use as an exception.
 8        MR. STANARD: Any questions?
 9        MR. BOLES: Yes.
10        Hi, Mr. Stein.  Edgar Boles.
11        You're close to Strawberry Lane; are you
12    not?
13        MR. STEIN: That's correct.
14        MR. BOLES: Are you aware 112 Strawberry
15    Lane is a rental?
16        MR. STEIN: I've not been -- that's --
17    I've never been brought here as far as a notice
18    related to Strawberry Lane.
19        MR. BOLES: Are you aware 114 Strawberry
20    Lane is a rental?
21        MR. STEIN: I've only ever received a
22    notice about --
23        MR. BOLES: So the answer is no, you're
24    not aware that either one of those is a rental?
25        MR. STEIN: I'm confirming that I've
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 1    never received a notice about a rental other --
 2        MR. BOLES: You're dancing away -- do
 3    you know that those two are rentals, because
 4    they're listed as rentals in the Village records.
 5        MR. STEIN: Okay.  I'm not --
 6        MR. BOLES: Do you know the owner of
 7    either one of those properties?
 8        MR. STEIN: I will confirm there's a lot
 9    of people in Moreland Hills I don't know.
10        MR. BOLES: Do you know the renters of
11    either one of those properties?
12        MR. STEIN: I can't say for certain.
13        MR. BOLES: Are you worried about the
14    rentals at 112 Strawberry Lane and 114 Strawberry
15    Lane?
16        MR. STEIN: I worry about everybody.  It
17    think -- it's my job to worry about everybody in
18    the neighborhood, and so if we're talking about
19    one house, any particular house, I would be
20    worried about it.  But if it's going to have 30
21    people, 50 people, there's more levels of
22    concern.
23        MR. BOLES: Do you know that the
24    ordinances of Moreland Hills speak ostensibly to
25    renting a residential premises and all you need
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 1    to do is register?  Did you know that?
 2        MR. STEIN: A primary residence?
 3        MR. BOLES: Any kind of residence.  You
 4    can rent.  It's legal.
 5        MR. STEIN: You could rent living
 6    quarters?
 7        MR. BOLES: Yes.
 8        MR. STEIN: I would have thought no
 9    because it says it's prohibited.  I'm not an
10    expert in the code.  I would have thought it was
11    prohibited to rent --
12        MR. BOLES: So you didn't know that
13    renting was legal in Moreland Hills and you
14    didn't know there's two houses on Strawberry Lane
15    that were rented -- are rented, correct?
16        MR. STEIN: Yes, that's right.
17        MR. STANARD: Any questions, Counselor,
18    for the witness?
19        MS. LANE: No.
20        MR. STANARD: Thank you.
21        MS. DAHL: I'm not sworn in.
22        (Thereupon, Ms. Dahl was sworn in.)
23        MS. DAHL: My name is Dahl and I live at
24    160.  First of all, just to the point that was
25    just immediately discussed between Mr. Boles and
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 1    my neighbor, Greg Stein, I think for many of us
 2    there's a distinction between a rental and a
 3    transitory rental.  So a rental of a house or
 4    even a room in a house which lasts for six
 5    months, a year, whatever, which I assume
 6    Mr. Boles is referring to with the Strawberry
 7    Lane rentals, I don't have direct knowledge of
 8    that, this is different to us than transient
 9    rentals which lasts for one night or two nights.
10        So Airbnb brings in many, many people
11    whereas a long-term rental would bring in one
12    person who would become known to the neighborhood
13    just to that immediate point that was made.
14        I think it's clear that part of the
15    testimony tonight concerned what the neighbors
16    Brian and Kate understood when they bought the
17    house, and I'm empathetic to that.  They
18    understood that they had a rental property that
19    they could use.  However, the rest of us who
20    bought in the neighborhood, and I bought a couple
21    years before then, also purchased under a series
22    of ordinances as we understood them.  In other
23    words, what makes Moreland Hills Moreland Hills
24    to us.  There are things like we can't clear cut
25    trees on our property, and it's something that we
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 1    all accept and buy into because we want to
 2    maintain the rural tree structure of our
 3    neighborhood.
 4        Most of us, I think it's safe to say,
 5    purchased our houses with the idea there would
 6    not be businesses run in our neighborhood, and I
 7    think that's a key objection for us in granting
 8    this variance.  It was clear to me in listening
 9    to Dr. Muehrcke's testimony that he improved the
10    structure on the property for the use of his
11    family.  That point seemed to be reiterated over
12    and over again.  I was hoping someone would
13    simply ask him, "When you improved your property,
14    did you intend to rent this for profit?"  Nobody
15    did ask the question, but I would be very
16    interested to hear his answer, because it seemed
17    implicit in what he was saying that that was not
18    his intention, it was for the use of his family.
19    I believe when you asked the question about
20    whether the postman delivers to the mailbox to
21    that property, that clearly implies this is, you
22    know, something that the owner of the house
23    carries to that mailbox.
24        We don't lock our doors in our
25    neighborhood and we're comfortable not locking
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 1    our doors because we know everybody on the
 2    street.  Barrie spoke very eloquently and
 3    beautifully about that.  But I would say Greg's
 4    concerns about safety extend down the block
 5    because that's the kind of neighborhood it is.
 6    That's all I want to say.  Thanks.
 7        MR. STANARD: Any questions?
 8        MR. BOLES: I have a couple.
 9        Hi, Ms. Dahl.  Edgar Boles.
10        I asked Mr. Stein if he was aware of the
11    two rentals on Strawberry Lane.  Are you aware of
12    the two rentals?
13        MS. DAHL: No, I was not.
14        MR. BOLES: You don't know who the
15    owners are?
16        MS. DAHL: No.
17        MR. BOLES: You don't know who the
18    renters are?
19        MS. DAHL: Could I just say, though,
20    that Strawberry Lane is quite a distance from our
21    block compared to as you see the structure in
22    question and Mr. Stein's property.  Strawberry
23    Lane is a street well behind the areas we're
24    talking about.  So you could ask me do you know
25    there are rentals in Chagrin Falls?  Sure.  They
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 1    don't impact us in the way this particular
 2    structure does.
 3        MR. BOLES: The registration rules for
 4    Moreland Hills rentals, there are two properties
 5    who are owned by the same person and rented.  One
 6    is at -- this is G. Amato who owns two different
 7    properties.  One at 4805 SOM Center and another
 8    at 35755 Chagrin Boulevard.
 9        MS. DAHL: Again, this is not relevant.
10    This is not our street.  Our street is Millcreek
11    Lane.
12        MR. BOLES: I know.  Let me make -- I'm
13    a lawyer.  All I have is the law.  I read the law
14    and I try to convince people who enforce it to
15    enforce it according to what's written.
16        MS. DAHL: Right.
17        MR. BOLES: What's written in your
18    Village's law is that you may rent your house if
19    you register it, and there's a person who has
20    registered two different houses that they're
21    renting.
22        MS. DAHL: On the same parcel?
23        MR. BOLES: No.
24        MS. DAHL: So they own two houses and
25    they're renting both of them.
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 1        MR. BOLES: They own two different
 2    houses.
 3        Now, neither one of them -- one of them
 4    has to not be their principal residence and very
 5    likely none of them are their principal
 6    residences.
 7        MS. DAHL: Right.  But you're not
 8    talking about a primary structure and another
 9    structure.
10        MR. BOLES: Village code also permits
11    you to register a house and to give the name of
12    the rental agent or the marketing company who's
13    handling it for you.
14        MS. DAHL: Sure.  Rather than your own
15    personal --
16        MR. BOLES: Exactly.
17        MS. DAHL: But are you talking about 16
18    people over the course of three weeks in the
19    home?
20        MR. BOLES: The code doesn't make that
21    distinction.
22        MS. DAHL: Okay.  So I would just say in
23    response to that that maybe the code needs to be
24    re-written in the modern era because it has been
25    made as a point that Airbnb --
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 1        MR. BOLES: You have to do that before a
 2    lawyer can make the argument that it should be
 3    applied that way.  You can't enforce the law
 4    according to the way you'd like it to be.
 5        MS. DAHL: None of the neighbors here
 6    thought this was going to be a court case so
 7    we're here to speak and to give you our sense of
 8    what the law means, and I understand that's not
 9    what you're dealing with here, but that is what
10    we're doing now, and I believe actually that's
11    what the building inspector is also trying to
12    say.  He's trying to -- and I don't want to put
13    words in your mouth, but I believe he's trying to
14    interpret the spirit of the law which is always
15    the lawyer's job, right?  Not the letter of the
16    law, but the spirit of the law.  The code is
17    written so that people are not routinely renting
18    structures on their property.
19        MR. BOLES: But it doesn't say that.
20        MS. DAHL: Okay.  We're not comfortable
21    with the situation as it stands.
22        MR. BOLES: And as you say then the law
23    needs to be written in a way makes you
24    comfortable.
25        MS. DAHL: But --
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 1        MR. BOLES: It doesn't make Ms. Bennett
 2    and Mr. Smallwood comfortable to have $115,000
 3    structure on their property to be declared
 4    unusable.
 5        MS. DAHL: I would ask if you're
 6    comfortable with them asking the Village if they
 7    can use Airbnb, being told that they weren't
 8    allowed to and then proceeding to do it.
 9        MR. BOLES: But the code doesn't say
10    that.
11        MR. INCORVIA: You're getting into an
12    argument.  If you want to state some of those
13    remarks in the closing statements, go ahead and
14    do it.
15        MR. STANARD: Ms. Lane, any questions?
16        MS. LANE: I do not.
17        MR. STANARD: Is there someone else that
18    wanted to make a statement?
19        MR. SCHENKEL: John Schenkel.  I live at
20    150 Millcreek.  I'm not sworn in.
21        (Mr. Schenkel was sworn in.)
22        MR. STANARD: Please state and spell
23    your name for the record.
24        MR. SCHENKEL: John Schenkel,
25    S-c-h-e-n-k-e-l.
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 1        MS. STANARD: She's asked for you to
 2    stand so we can hear you.
 3        MR. SCHENKEL: So I have a concern and I
 4    don't want to get into fighting the letter of the
 5    law, but we live at 150 Millcreek Lane and we're
 6    actually a flagpole lot, and we sit like Barrie
 7    does, very far back into the woods.  It's not
 8    evident with the way that the property line is
 9    drawn, but there's a big ravine that is not
10    clearly marked that sits behind all of our houses
11    and Wiley Creek runs through the middle of all of
12    that, and the way that the map shows here it's
13    all contiguous property line without any
14    right-of-way, and I'm sure that it had a
15    right-of-way years ago.  My concern is that if
16    Airbnb or guests of -- and not long-term renters,
17    but guests who come in and are transient are
18    accessing the woods, and what happens if they're
19    walking in the creek, which runs through my
20    property, they slip, they fall, they break their
21    head open, the incident happens on my property,
22    I'm technically liable for that, am I not?
23    What's -- where is the -- you know, somebody
24    falls or skins their -- whatever, accidents
25    happen in the woods.  We have no -- we've given
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 1    no leave, we have no knowledge of anybody being
 2    back there, we assume no legal responsibility.
 3    What happens?  They're advertising a woods
 4    get-away.  It's really easy to get down in that
 5    creek and say it's 95 degrees, I'm going to take
 6    a walk.  So what happens to the neighbors if
 7    something bad does happen, or if somebody shows
 8    up running through your property trying to egress
 9    out of the woods and ends up in your backyard,
10    who is responsible for that?  Airbnb?  The owners
11    of the property?  Where are our protections for
12    that as property owners?
13        MR. INCORVIA: Those are good questions.
14    We're here to take your testimony.
15        MR. SCHENKEL: That was my question.
16        MR. STANARD: Mr. Boles, any questions?
17        MR. BOLES: No.
18        MR. STANARD: Ms. Lane, any questions?
19        MS. LANE: No.
20        MR. STANARD: Is there anyone else who
21    would like to make a statement?
22        MAYOR RENDA: Mr. Chairman, I did just
23    quickly want to reiterate that I have given you
24    Village Exhibits A and B and I would like to
25    formally request that those be made part of the
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 1    record.
 2        MR. STANARD: Thank you.  Duly noted.
 3        MR. BOLEK: Mr. Chairman?
 4        MR. STANARD: Mr. Bolek.
 5        MR. BOLEK: Before we get too far from
 6    public comment, I'd like to just make a comment
 7    myself and thank the residents for coming and
 8    voicing their concerns, and then also being
 9    subjected to Mr. Boles' cross-examination.  I
10    think one resident mentioned they were unaware
11    this was going to be testimony, so I thank you
12    for sitting through that and providing us your
13    concerns and your questions, which are truly
14    valid and duly noted.  In the same respect, I
15    want to say I'm sure this is an uncomfortable
16    situation for the family here for the appeal, but
17    it is a great community that people are very tied
18    to and want to protect, so I appreciate those
19    comments.  That's all.
20        MR. STANARD: Well said, Mr. Bolek.
21    Thank you.
22        I think at this point it's time to
23    entertain the closing statements.
24        MR. BOLES: Thank you.
25        There are two distinct issues in front
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 1    of this Board, one is the secondary structure,
 2    accessory structure, whatever you want to call
 3    it, the smaller dwelling unit on 90 Millcreek
 4    Lane is a non-conforming use and has been for
 5    years.  It is and always has been used for human
 6    habitation, whether it be a week, weekend, night,
 7    intermittently, and it was in that condition when
 8    Ms. Bennett and Mr. Smallwood purchased it.  That
 9    is a single issue.  There is no requirement in
10    your code or in the law of Ohio that a
11    non-conforming use be documented, registered,
12    written down or in any other manner.  It exists
13    and the law says starting with Ohio Revised Code
14    71315 and your own code at 1135 that these
15    non-conforming uses are preserved and they're
16    preserved as a matter of law, and a homeowner
17    does not need to do anything to preserve that.
18        Now, in that posture, there is a
19    complaint that the structure is being rented.
20    The homeowner tried to register it according to
21    your code, according to Chapter 1336, I believe
22    it is, 1363, which has specific provisions for
23    registering your rental property.  That's all
24    that's required, and, indeed, there are many
25    rental properties, two on Strawberry Lane that
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 1    are registered.  They tried to do that, and
 2    because it's Airbnb, they were precluded from
 3    that.  There's nothing in the code that says that
 4    Airbnb as your marketing agent precludes your use
 5    of the property as a rental.  That's the second
 6    issue in this matter.  Now, people don't like
 7    Airbnb.  So be it.  Your code does not prevent
 8    the use of a residential rental to be rented
 9    according to Airbnb, and no one can tell the
10    difference between somebody driving up and
11    getting out of their car and going in, whether
12    they're cousins from Canada or whether they are
13    friends from Fresno, California or whether
14    they're renters.  And everything that the
15    neighbors have said does not create any
16    distinction between those two uses of a
17    grandfathered non-conforming use which legally
18    exists.  And if this Village wants to make the
19    use of Airbnb unlawful, the code needs to be
20    rewritten in the future, but Mr. Smallwood and
21    Ms. Bennett have tried to obey the law and to
22    follow it, and there's nothing that's been said
23    here tonight that overrides the two points that
24    I've made, and that is two points that the
25    evidence has established, first that dwelling
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 1    unit is grandfathered and it's a non-conforming
 2    use and has been so at least since Dr. Muehrcke
 3    worked on it, and every member of council and the
 4    building commissioner, Mr. Potts, and the mayor,
 5    Mr. Dodson, were there and intimately involved in
 6    the major renovation of that property which
 7    centered only around the lack of a permit for the
 8    retaining wall in the years 1992 to 1997 which is
 9    reflected in your own records.
10        Secondly, the matter of the rental of a
11    property, it's legal, it's legal in Moreland
12    Hills, and Airbnb as a methodology of renting is
13    not precluded, and, therefore, the Board would be
14    acting contrary to law if we compounded the
15    errors here by saying that this form of rental
16    can be restricted.  The code does not.  So,
17    therefore, we submit that the property needs to
18    be acknowledged as being a non-conforming use,
19    which requires nothing more than its existence.
20    The Village has the obligation to show it was
21    voluntarily abandoned for a period in excess of a
22    year and there is no evidence to that fact before
23    this Board.
24        Second, the issue of the rental of the
25    property, while it may be distasteful to some
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 1    people, renting is an option, it's legal in
 2    Moreland Hills and, indeed, there are many people
 3    who take advantage of that.  Some of them are
 4    clearly not renting their primary residence
 5    because they're renting two properties at the
 6    same time.  So the Board should further find that
 7    the rental of a property is not precluded by law
 8    and may proceed, and that the property owners may
 9    register in accordance with Chapter 1363 of the
10    code.  And I am going to assemble and offer
11    Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 14 and 15.
12        MR. STANARD: We'll make note that
13    they've been offered.
14        Ms. Lane.
15        MS. LANE: Thank you.  Thank you,
16    Mr. Chairman.  I think I want to start off with
17    one statement that I think is crucial and it's
18    crucial for the BZA to understand, and Mr. Boles
19    didn't cite case law for this and I feel like I
20    need to.
21        He made a statement that it is the
22    Village's responsibility under Ohio Law to prove
23    that a use was in existence prior to zoning and
24    that it was lawful at the time that it existed so
25    that other burden is on the Village to prove that
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 1    there is a pre-existing legal non-conforming use
 2    and that is not correct.  Under Ohio law, the
 3    property owner bears the burden of proof to
 4    establish that the use was in existence prior to
 5    the zoning regulations and it was lawful at the
 6    time it was established.  I will cite Bonds
 7    versus Koor, K-o-o-r, Fifth Appellate App 08CA14,
 8    2009 Weslaw, 154500 at paragraph 17.  Now, that
 9    being said, when there is a question of whether a
10    non-conforming use has been discontinued or
11    abandoned, that is when the burden shifts to the
12    municipality.
13        And so I just really want you to think
14    about the line of questioning that Attorney Boles
15    put forth to Mr. Kowalczyk and really tried to
16    hammer him on that -- almost saying that
17    Mr. Kowalczyk had the burden to prove that with
18    respect to the Village documents, that there was
19    a pre-existing legal non-conforming use because
20    it's really the property owner's burden.  And I
21    did want to just -- in my opinion, when I look at
22    this case, this is a non-conforming use.  It has
23    the Airbnb component, but this is not a question
24    of short-term rentals and if the Village's code
25    allows short-term rentals or not.  Clearly the
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 1    way we interpret and imply our code is that there
 2    is nothing in our code that would prohibit the
 3    rental of the principal dwelling.  We have a
 4    single-family dwelling house district.  That
 5    means one principal dwelling.  I mean, I can cite
 6    to the code sections, if necessary.  But this is
 7    Section 1151.03, that the principal use is the
 8    single-family dwelling.  With respect to
 9    accessory structures, that is where our code does
10    prohibit -- I guess I don't want to say rental,
11    but that there can be no habitation of an
12    accessory structure.  So I feel like regardless
13    in this case of whether the Board wants to call
14    this structure an accessory structure or a second
15    dwelling on the property, both situations would
16    be non-conforming.  They would both be
17    non-conforming uses, and so as I said in my
18    opening statement, while as the counsel for the
19    building commission, we have asked that the BZA
20    affirm the building commissioner's determination,
21    but the structure at issue can only be used in
22    compliance with Section 1151.3D if the Board is
23    inclined to find that there is some
24    non-conforming use for habitation of this cabin,
25    smaller structure, we feel that there has been

Page 129

 1    testimony presented by the applicants of some use
 2    of the structure for habitation-type uses, but
 3    we've also heard about it being used as a hunting
 4    lodge, that it was used as a campaign
 5    headquarters, apparently, for a presidential
 6    election, that it has been used by family members
 7    and apparently guests of owners.  Nothing that
 8    has been presented in the evidence and testimony
 9    shows that there has been a full-blown continuous
10    use of this property as a vacation home
11    essentially, that it has been advertised and
12    repeatedly used for that purpose.  It would be
13    our opinion that that piece of the use was not
14    part of the original use that was established
15    decades ago, and that that piece of the use would
16    constitute some sort of expansion or change
17    should the BZA find that there was a
18    non-conforming use for habitation for the -- I
19    guess what I would call lesser uses of occasional
20    family and guest uses.
21        I also did just want to just reiterate
22    that the applicant's reference to the various
23    Village records from the 1990s, they pertain to a
24    retaining wall, they do not establish that this
25    structure is a guest house, is a cottage, is a
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 1    vacation home.  It doesn't even talk about
 2    hunting lodge or campaign headquarters, and so
 3    those documents just clearly do not establish a
 4    non-conforming use of the structure for
 5    habitation.
 6        I think that's all I have.  Thank you.
 7        MR. STANARD: Thank you.
 8        MR. INCORVIA: At this point it would be
 9    up to the Board to review anything you want to
10    review to make a decision tonight if you like,
11    you can reconvene at a different date, whatever
12    your preference would be.  Some may need to use
13    the restroom.
14        MR. STANARD: Let's take a short
15    adjournment and the Board will make a
16    determination as to whether or not a decision
17    will be rendered tonight.
18        (A recess was taken.)
19        MR. STANARD: I realize it's late at
20    night.  We've heard quite a lot of testimony.
21    I'm going to ask for a little more from our
22    counselor, Mr. Incorvia, to give us a little
23    guidance and direction.
24        MR. INCORVIA: Thank you.
25        This obviously involves a non-conforming
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 1    use, and I know that the members of the Board
 2    have heard about Chapter 1135 and read through
 3    it.  I just want to take a few minutes to read
 4    some sections of Chapter 1135 regarding
 5    non-conforming uses for the benefit of the
 6    audience and the Board members.  The issue here
 7    has to do with a non-conforming use.  I think
 8    it's pretty clear.  I'd ask counsel from either
 9    side to correct me if I'm wrong if it appears
10    there's a non-conforming question here.
11        Chapter 1135.01 talks about the intent
12    of the chapter.  It says, "The purpose of this
13    chapter is to recognize the existence of uses,
14    buildings, lots and structures that lawfully
15    existed at the time this Planning and Zoning
16    Code's enactment or amendments thereto, but which
17    now do not conform with one or more regulations
18    contained in this Planning and Zoning Code.
19    Non-conforming uses of structures and/or land are
20    considered by this code to be incompatible with
21    the provisions applicable in a district in which
22    uses are located.  In addition, it is recognized
23    that there are lots, buildings, parking lots,
24    signs and other structures that do not conform to
25    the Zoning Regulations in this code.  Regulations
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 1    for the continuous maintenance, repair,
 2    restoring, moving and discontinuance of
 3    non-conforming structures, non-conforming
 4    buildings/structures and non-conforming lots are
 5    established in order to achieve the following
 6    purposes.
 7        "(A) To permit the continuance but
 8    control of non-conforming uses so as to minimize
 9    any adverse effects the uses might have on the
10    adjoining properties and development.
11        "(B) To continue the maintenance and
12    repair of non-conforming uses.
13        "(C) To restrict the rebuilding of
14    non-conforming uses that substantially destroyed.
15        "(D) To require conformity if a
16    non-conforming use is discontinued to bring about
17    eventual conformity of all uses in accordance
18    with the objectives of the comprehensive land use
19    plan and the Planning and Zoning Code of the
20    village.
21        "(E) To establish regulations for the
22    development of sites containing non-conforming
23    site conditions.
24        "(F) To establish regulations for the
25    development of non-conforming lots.
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 1        And "(G) To establish regulations for
 2    use, restoration, reconstruction and expansion of
 3    structures that do not conform to the standards
 4    set forth in the Planning and Zoning Code."
 5    That's 1135.01.  Bear with me.  I'm going to read
 6    a few more sections here so we have a fair handle
 7    of non-conformance.  1135.03, "Lawful
 8    Non-conformance."
 9        "The provisions of this chapter apply to
10    any buildings, structure, land, site condition or
11    other use hereafter becoming non-conforming as a
12    result of the adoptions of Planning and Zoning
13    Code as well as amendments made to this Planning
14    Or Zoning code for the official zoning maps.
15        "(a) The lawful use of any dwelling,
16    building or structure and of any land or premises
17    as existing and lawful at the time of enacting
18    this code, or any amendments thereto, may be
19    continued although such use does not conform to
20    the provisions of this code.  The completion,
21    restoration, reconstruction, extension or
22    substitution of non-conforming uses shall be
23    subject to the provisions and conditions set
24    forth in this chapter.
25        "(b) A non-conforming lot, use, building
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 1    or structure does not include non-conformity with
 2    regulations pursuant to the legally granted
 3    variance from a zoning regulation.
 4        "(c) Ordinary repairs or repair or
 5    replacement of nonbearing walls, fixtures, wiring
 6    or plumbing may be performed on a non-conforming
 7    structure or on any portion of a structure that
 8    contains a non-conforming use provided that such
 9    repair or replacement is performed in accordance
10    with all applicable state and local building
11    codes and regulations and the cubic content shall
12    not be increased and no structural parts shall be
13    replaced except when required by law to restore
14    such building or structure to a safe condition or
15    to make the building or structure conform to the
16    regulations in the district in which it is
17    located."
18        And I'm going to jump over to
19    1135.05(c).
20    "Structures Occupied By Non-Conforming Use."
21        "(1) Extension of Non-Conforming Use
22    Within Building.  A non-conforming use of an
23    existing structure may be extended throughout any
24    parts of the building that were manifestly
25    arranged or designed for such use at the time of
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 1    adoption or amendment to this Planning and Zoning
 2    Code.  However, no such use shall be extended to
 3    occupy any land outside such building not
 4    previously occupied by such non-conforming use.
 5        "(2), Expansion and Improvement of the
 6    Building.  No such building shall be enlarged,
 7    expanded, altered, approved or reconstructed to
 8    increase the non-conforming use, and no
 9    additional structures shall be constructed in
10    connection with such non-conforming use unless
11    the Board of Appeals determines that the proposed
12    changes, additions or improvements shall upgrade
13    an activity and make the resulting development
14    more compatible with the district for which it is
15    zoned and more compatible with the adjacent uses.
16    In making this determination, the Board of
17    Appeals shall consider the following.
18        "A, hours of operation; B, volume and
19    type of sales; C, type of processing activities;
20    D, nature and location of storage; E, traffic
21    generation by volume, type and characteristics;
22    F, parking and loading characteristics; G, noise,
23    smoke, odor, vibration, radiation and fumes."
24        "(3), Damage or destruction in the event
25    a building or structure that is occupied by
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 1    non-conforming use is more than 50 percent
 2    destroyed or removed by whatever cause.  It could
 3    be an act of God.  Such building structure should
 4    not be restored or replaced except to the
 5    conformity of the regulations for the district in
 6    which it's located."
 7        I read those just to give you a
 8    foundation for what you're going to be reviewing
 9    here.  You've heard a lot of testimony.  You've
10    heard testimony from Dr. Muehrcke about how he
11    used the building, you've heard testimony from
12    the neighbors, you've heard testimony from our
13    building commissioner, and you have some
14    questions to ask yourself, what evidence was
15    presented.  Was there evidence that it was used
16    for habitation, and, if so, to what extent?  A
17    non-conforming use for habitation, whether or not
18    that use would be extended to something else is
19    something you may have to consider.  Was there
20    any evidence of rental presented, any testimony
21    in the evidence that this has been used as a
22    rental in the past is something else for you to
23    consider, and all the evidence you heard is for
24    your consideration tonight.
25        So you have to review the application
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 1    and make a determination whether you want to
 2    uphold the decision of the building commissioner
 3    or whether you want to uphold the applicant's
 4    application and make a decision that this is a
 5    non-conforming use, that exactly as they stated
 6    has been a rental unit.  You have to make that
 7    decision as to what evidence was presented and
 8    how it can -- how it will be continue to be used.
 9    I'm open for questions.  I know that perhaps --
10    I'm not here for Planning and Zoning Board
11    meetings and there might be some questions of me.
12    I'm happy to answer those questions on how to
13    proceed.
14        MAYOR RENDA: Does this require a
15    motion?
16        MR. INCORVIA: It will require some type
17    of motion and some type of resolution.
18        MR. BOLEK: So correct me if I'm wrong,
19    I understand that we actually basically have one
20    or two things.  One, do we believe that the
21    Violation Notice provided by the building
22    commissioner is -- that we agree with that, and
23    the second then option to consider would be in
24    the hearing tonight presented a case to us to
25    question that violation and, thus, a motion to
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 1    maybe accept an appeal or are we making the
 2    recommendation to council?
 3        MR. INCORVIA: Well, first you have to
 4    make a decision as to whether or not you want to
 5    uphold the decision upheld by the commissioner
 6    first and foremost.  Second, my review of the law
 7    is that the burden is on the applicant to show
 8    that it's been a non-conforming use.  Once they
 9    meet that burden, the burden is on the
10    municipality to show that there was a break in
11    the period of time.  If there was a break in the
12    period of time, non-conforming use can't be
13    continued.
14        So the first step tonight is to decide
15    whether you want to uphold all portions of the
16    decision of the building commissioner, or
17    portions of the decision of the building
18    commissioner, or vote in favor of the applicant.
19        MR. BOLEK: Follow-up question then.  If
20    we decide to uphold the decision of the building
21    commissioner, do we need to substantiate why?
22        MR. INCORVIA: Yes.
23        MR. BOLEK: We do need points.
24        MR. BOLES: May I be heard?
25        MR. INCORVIA: I have no problem.
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 1        MR. STANARD: You may.
 2        MR. BOLES: It's more than a break in
 3    time.  It has to be a voluntary abandonment by
 4    the property owner, not just a break in time, and
 5    for more than a year.
 6        MR. INCORVIA: That's correct, one-year
 7    period of time.
 8        MR. STANARD: To be clear, Mr. Incorvia,
 9    what you just stated was if there is, in fact, in
10    anyone's opinion that the non-conforming use has
11    been discontinued or abandoned, the municipality
12    bears the burden of proof.
13        MR. INCORVIA: That it has been
14    abandoned, yes.
15        MAYOR RENDA: There is a prohibition
16    against increasing the intensity of the
17    non-conforming use; is that correct?
18        MR. INCORVIA: That's correct.
19        MAYOR RENDA: I didn't use the right
20    word.
21        MR. INCORVIA: Increasing the
22    non-conforming use.
23        MAYOR RENDA: And so changing it
24    slightly may be increasing it.
25        MR. INCORVIA: Yes.
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 1        MR. JANKE: Based on the comments from
 2    the neighbors, in 1135.05, it talks about
 3    continuance of use as long as it does not
 4    constitute a public nuisance.  Would that be the
 5    type of nuisance that this would be directed at?
 6        MR. INCORVIA: You're referring to
 7    Section 11?
 8        JR. JANKE: 1135.
 9        MR. INCORVIA: Any particular
10    subsection?
11        MR. STANARD: Look at A.
12        MR. JANKE: Below the non-conforming use
13    may be continued.  "So long as it remains
14    otherwise lawful and does not constitute a public
15    nuisance."
16        MAYOR RENDA: Yes, increased traffic,
17    hours of operation.
18        MR. JANKE: So that would be?
19        MR. INCORVIA: Looking at C2.
20        MAYOR RENDA: Is that what you were
21    looking at?
22        MR. JANKE: Yes.
23        MR. INCORVIA: Those are considerations.
24    Is there an increase in traffic?  Are there
25    different hours of operation?  Was there ever any
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 1    hours of operation?
 2        MAYOR RENDA: And it may be G is noise.
 3        MR. INCORVIA: So, you know, it's up to
 4    the Board to take in the evidence and make a
 5    decision, but if you heard evidence -- we heard
 6    some evidence tonight that at some point it was
 7    used for habitation in the 1990s.  We heard -- I
 8    heard no evidence, and you can correct me if I'm
 9    wrong, that it was ever used as a rental.  So
10    there's a difference -- it's a different type of
11    argument to be made about a different
12    non-conforming use or an expansion of a
13    non-conforming use if someone is using it for
14    their family and guests as opposed to a business
15    proposition to rent it out whether long-term or
16    short-term.  The code clearly says one
17    residential unit per property in the zoning
18    district is permitted.
19        MR. STANARD: Any further questions for
20    Mr. Incorvia at this time, because if there
21    aren't, I think that, although I don't want to,
22    I'm going to be the one to go ahead and break the
23    ice.
24        I think that the applicant did a
25    reasonably acceptable job of demonstrating that
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 1    the guest house was in existence and being
 2    utilized for habitation in the past.  It's a
 3    structure that has a sink, a hot water heater, a
 4    kitchen, a bed, a fireplace, a septic system, so
 5    in my opinion it's set up that way, it's designed
 6    to be a guest house.  And although I agree with
 7    Mr. Kowalczyk that the drawing that says it's a
 8    guest house means it's a guest house, I think
 9    that the evidence presented by Dr. Muehrcke does
10    demonstrate that it is a guest house.  It's
11    equipped for people to eat and sleep and do the
12    thing that requires sanitary provisions.
13        Now, has it always been being used as a
14    rental?  No.  I don't know.  Your father lets you
15    stay there.  Is he expecting you to cut the
16    grass?  Is that payment or a future promise?  Or
17    you give it to a buddy to use for the weekend,
18    and does he take care of you by taking you
19    hunting or fishing or putting you on his boat.
20    Is there inherent value in someone lending it to
21    you, that rental?  I don't think I'm equipped to
22    make that decision.
23        MR. INCORVIA: If I could just make a
24    comment.  I think if my recollection is correct,
25    I think the evidence we heard from Dr. Muehrcke
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 1    was that it was an accessory building used to
 2    house his daughters and his children.  I didn't
 3    hear -- if he said he used it for others, I stand
 4    corrected.
 5        MR. STANARD: Well, I guess my point is
 6    the Village doesn't have a record of who was
 7    there and what their affiliation was with the
 8    owner.  Was it a friend, a relative, an uncle, a
 9    cousin?
10        MR. INCORVIA: Well, you have to look at
11    the testimony that was presented.
12        MR. STANARD: With his children only,
13    fair enough?
14        MR. INCORVIA: I don't know if there was
15    other testimony presented.  I don't recall that.
16        MR. STANARD: I know it seems as though
17    there was family relations with most of the
18    references, whether they're brothers or sisters
19    or, in fact, the children, okay?
20        MR. INCORVIA: So I'm just trying to
21    take a look at the evidence presented tonight.
22    The burden is on the applicant to present
23    evidence to show that it was used in any other
24    way or any other manner, and the only evidence,
25    correct me if I'm wrong, the only evidence I
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 1    recall hearing is it was used for family members
 2    of Dr. Muehrcke.
 3        MR. STANARD: I believe I heard
 4    testimony that there were other family members.
 5        MR. INCORVIA: Perhaps there was.
 6        MR. STANARD: But your point is well
 7    taken.
 8        MR. INCORVIA: I'm talking about direct
 9    testimony.  We've heard Dr. Murphy talk about
10    using it as campaign headquarters.  I don't know
11    if he had firsthand knowledge.  I think he
12    testified that he didn't.  But he surmised that
13    by the use of posters in the building and
14    paperwork.
15        MR. STANARD: Anything else?
16        MR. INCORVIA: I didn't mean to
17    interrupt you, I just wanted to clarify.
18        MR. STANARD: Understood.  I think I'll
19    stand down.  Is there anyone else that would like
20    to make a comment?
21        MR. BUCZEK: Mr. Chairman?
22        MR. STANARD: Mr. Buczek, Councilman
23    Buczek.
24        MR. BUCZEK: To rephrase what was just
25    said, I don't see any evidence that this was
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 1    rented out in the past, it was only used by
 2    family, friends, but not as a rental.
 3        MAYOR RENDA: It seems to me that we
 4    have testimony from residents and neighbors who
 5    say that there is an increase in both traffic and
 6    noise and so that is problematic for me.
 7        MR. BOLEK: So to add to the thoughts,
 8    some would be repeated.  From what others have
 9    said, I don't see that there was any proof
10    establishing there was a basis for rental at any
11    time ever.  I don't necessarily even see any
12    proof that the accessory building was -- although
13    it was stated to be used for children or family
14    members, but approved as a rental or living
15    quarters as an accessory building to the primary
16    structure, I don't see the burden of proof being
17    established that would demonstrate grandfathered
18    situation for the accessory building.  I think
19    community that attended made good points about
20    safety, negative impact to economic values to the
21    neighbors and overall traffic and noises the
22    mayor mentioned in terms of nuisance,
23    particularly with transient rental or Airbnb, let
24    alone other short-term type of rentals.
25        And although the owner purchased the
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 1    property under the auspices that the realtor
 2    said, "Hey, it's an economic generator you can
 3    use as a rental," I think it's -- you know, the
 4    realtor was wrong.  The realtor did not
 5    understand or have knowledge of our ordinances
 6    and is not the one that you should have relied on
 7    for that information, and so I think there's a
 8    lot of things here that are a basis to form a
 9    motion in support of the building commissioner's
10    citing of this variance and I would be happy to
11    make that motion under advice of counsel with
12    structuring it in terms of the wording, or maybe,
13    Mr. Chairman, maybe you would prefer to make that
14    motion or others or maybe I'm the only one
15    opinion of one-sidedness.
16        MR. STANARD: We'll keep the floor open
17    to other comments, but you're certainly welcome
18    to make any motion.
19        JR. JANKE: I just had -- again, it
20    might be a little redundant.  I did not see any
21    evidence presented that it had been used as a
22    rental in the past.  Maybe I was looking in the
23    wrong spot, but I didn't even see it listed with
24    the county as an accessory structure, so I don't
25    think, you know -- I mean, if the county is taxed
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 1    accordingly, they're pretty good about secondary
 2    units and labeling them as they should be just in
 3    my experience, I worked closely with a bunch of
 4    county auditors.  So, again, I don't see that
 5    there's evidence.  The writing on Greg Potts'
 6    drawings, again, is just descriptive, but I don't
 7    think anything you can hang your hat on.  I think
 8    it was one of the residents commented, you know,
 9    she's lived there for 22 years, and, you know,
10    really until recently as the rental, you didn't
11    even know it was back there.
12        So it seems that the use as the rental
13    is -- in the code says minimize adverse effects.
14    You know, noise constitutes a public nuisance,
15    so, again, it seems like there have never been
16    any issues until they've been used as a rental.
17        MR. STANARD: Thank you.
18        MR. INCORVIA: So the Board has the
19    ability to affirm the commissioner's decision
20    complete or in part or reverse his decision.
21    First I'd suggest you might want to think about,
22    has it been used to house family members in the
23    past or has it been used for house guests in the
24    past?  You might want to consider that.  And if
25    you find that it has been, then the next question
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 1    is, do you find that it has been used for
 2    business use as a rental in the past.
 3        And to consider that use of the
 4    building, if you find that the use is more than
 5    just an accessory structure or it's an accessory
 6    structure that's been used to house family
 7    members, that's one issue.  The second issue
 8    would be whether or not using it as a rental
 9    would be an expansion of that purpose.
10        Do you need some help?
11        MR. BOLEK: I have a question about that
12    because I think that in my mind I formulated the
13    idea that even though I heard testimony that it
14    was used, perhaps, for family members, it was
15    inconsistent.  I wrote many times that the doctor
16    made that statement as well as reference to the
17    prior owner, and it was in consistent, so it
18    wasn't a continual use dwelling for family which
19    in my opinion works into grandfather, you know,
20    wasn't, in my opinion, establishing a
21    grandfather -- it was not for use.
22        MR. INCORVIA: Sure.
23        MR. BOLEK: And then of course I didn't
24    see any testimony of a commercial use rental
25    situation being established, so I could frame a
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 1    motion.
 2        MR. INCORVIA: So if it's your opinion
 3    that this is an accessory building and you want
 4    to affirm the decision of the building
 5    commissioner, that would be a motion.  Or if you
 6    want to affirm the decision of the building
 7    commissioner in part, or if you want to reverse
 8    the decision of the building commissioner, that
 9    would need to be stated.
10        MR. BOLEK: Mr. Chairman, are you ready
11    for a motion?
12        MR. STANARD: I am.
13        MR. BOLEK: I'd like to make a motion to
14    confirm and uphold in its entirety the building
15    commissioner's violation notice from April 5,
16    2018 finding the use of the accessory structure
17    at 90 Millcreek Lane in violation of 1151.13(D)
18    of the Planning and Zoning Code.
19        Do you want points for that?
20        MR. INCORVIA: You certainly can.
21        MR. BOLEK: First, there's no proof of
22    continual use of family members inhabiting the
23    structure establishing any grandfather umbrella,
24    there's been no proof established of the
25    accessory building being approved or used as a
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 1    rental basis, and the testimony -- not testimony,
 2    but the concerns we heard from the community in
 3    attendance of safety, negative impact of economic
 4    values of neighbors and potential noise or
 5    increased activity in noise and traffic relating
 6    to transient rental is of concern and not in
 7    accordance with the tentatively zoning ordinance,
 8    and that the basis of the applicant's statement
 9    that the realtor told them that it could be used
10    as such is in my opinion not -- it's not in my
11    opinion appropriate because it's incumbent by the
12    owner to -- Ms. Lane asked what was done to
13    validate and investigate on your behalf the
14    ability to do or not do something of that nature,
15    so for those points -- I think those are enough.
16    In my opinion they're enough.
17        MR. INCORVIA: Fine.
18        MR. STANARD: There's a motion on the
19    floor from Mr. Bolek.  Is there a second?
20        MAYOR RENDA: Second.
21        MR. BUCZEK: Second.
22        MR. STANARD: We have a motion on the
23    floor by Mr. Bolek and seconded by Mayor Renda
24    and Councilman Buczek.
25        Would you call the roll?
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 1        MS. DEAN: Mr. Bolek?
 2        MR. BOLEK: Yes.
 3        MS. DEAN: Mr. Buczek?
 4        MR. BUCZEK: Yes.
 5        MS. DEAN: Mr. Janke?
 6        MR. JANKE: Yes.
 7        MS. DEAN: Mayor Renda?
 8        MAYOR RENDA: Yes.
 9        MS. DEAN: Mr. Stanard?
10        MR. STANARD: No.
11        Is there any other business to be
12    attended to?
13        MR. INCORVIA: Not that I know.  The
14    motion passes, so it's clear.
15        MAYOR RENDA: Motion to adjourn?
16        MR. BUCZEK: Second.
17        MR. STANARD: Motion to adjourn by Mayor
18    Renda, seconded by Councilman Buczek.
19        Would you call the roll, please?
20        MS. DEAN: Mr. Bolek?
21        MR. BOLEK: Yes.
22        MS. DEAN: Mr. Buczek?
23        MR. BUCZEK: Yes.
24        MS. DEAN: Mr. Janke?
25        MR. JANKE: Yes.
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 1        MS. DEAN: Mayor Renda?
 2        MAYOR RENDA: Yes.
 3        MS. DEAN: Mr. Stanard?
 4        MR. STANARD: Yes.
 5        Thank you.
 6    (Proceedings concluded at 9:40 p.m.)
 7        - - - - -
 8    
 9    
10    
11    
12    
13    
14    
15    
16    
17    
18    
19    
20    
21    
22    
23    
24    
25    
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